

Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

Use of passive samplers for the capture of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater

Lambert-Slosarska, Katy

Award date: 2023

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- · Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Bangor University

MASTERS BY RESEARCH

Use of passive samplers for the capture of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater

Lambert-Slosarska, Katy

Award date: 2023

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Use of passive samplers for the capture of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater

A thesis submitted to fulfill the requirements of a Master of Science by

Research (MScRes)

By Kathryn Lambert-Slosarska

Supervisors: Prof Davey Jones and Dr Jessica Kevill

School of Natural Sciences, Bangor University, Bangor, Gwynedd, LL57

2UW, Wales, UK

Declaration and Consent Statement

I hereby declare that this thesis is the results of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. All other sources are acknowledged by bibliographic references. This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless, as agreed by the University, for approved dual awards.

Yr wyf drwy hyn yn datgan mai canlyniad fy ymchwil fy hun yw'r thesis hwn, ac eithrio lle nodir yn wahanol. Caiff ffynonellau eraill eu cydnabod gan droednodiadau yn rhoi cyfeiriadau eglur. Nid yw sylwedd y gwaith hwn wedi cael ei dderbyn o'r blaen ar gyfer unrhyw radd, ac nid yw'n cael ei gyflwyno ar yr un pryd mewn ymgeisiaeth am unrhyw radd oni bai ei fod, fel y cytunwyd gan y Brifysgol, am gymwysterau deuol cymeradwy.

Details of the Work I hereby agree to deposit the following item in the digital repository maintained by Bangor University and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University.

Author Name: Kathryn Anna Lambert-Slosarska

Title: Use of passive samplers for the capture of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater Supervisor/Department: Prof. Davey Jones and Jessica L. Kevill

Funding body (if any): Welsh Government

Qualification/Degree obtained: MScRes Environmental Sciences

This item is a product of my own research endeavours and is covered by the agreement below in which the item is referred to as "the Work". It is identical in content to that deposited in the Library, subject to point 4 below.

Non-exclusive Rights

Rights granted to the digital repository through this agreement are entirely non-exclusive. I am free to publish the Work in its present version or future versions elsewhere. I agree that Bangor University may electronically store, copy or translate the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. Bangor University is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

Bangor University Digital Repository

I understand that work deposited in the digital repository will be accessible to a wide variety of people and institutions, including automated agents and search engines via the World Wide Web. I understand that once the Work is deposited, the item and its metadata may be incorporated into public access catalogues or services, national databases of electronic theses and dissertations such as the British Library's ETHOS or any service provided by the National Library of Wales. I understand that the Work may be made available via the National Library of Wales Online Electronic Theses Service under the declared terms and conditions of use (http://www.llgc.org.uk/index.php?id=4676). I agree that as part of this service the National Library of Wales may electronically store, copy or convert the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. The National Library of Wales is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

Statement 1:

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless as agreed by the University for approved dual awards.

Signed (K. Lambert-Slosarska)

Date 06.11.2022

Statement 2:

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s). All other sources are acknowledged by footnotes and/or a bibliography.

Signed (K. Lambert-Slosarska)

Date 06.11.2022

Statement 3:

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying, for interlibrary loan and for electronic storage (subject to any constraints as defined in statement 4), and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed (K. Lambert-Slosarska)

Date 06.11.2022

NB: Candidates on whose behalf a bar on access has been approved by the Academic Registry should use the following version of

Statement 3: Statement 3 (bar): I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying, for interlibrary loans and for electronic storage (subject to any constraints as defined in statement 4), after expiry of a bar on access.

Signed (K. Lambert-Slosarska)

Date 06.11.2022

Statement 4:

Choose one of the following options

a) I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University and where necessary have gained the required permissions for the use of third party material.

b) I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University when the approved bar on access has been lifted.

c) I agree to submit my thesis (the Work) electronically via Bangor University's e-submission system, however I opt-out of the electronic deposit to the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University, due to lack of permissions for use of third party material.

Options B should only be used if a bar on access has been approved by the University.

In addition to the above I also agree to the following:

 That I am the author or have the authority of the author(s) to make this agreement and do hereby give Bangor University the right to make available the Work in the way described above.
 That the electronic copy of the Work deposited in the digital repository and covered by this agreement, is identical in content to the paper copy of the Work deposited in the Bangor University Library, subject to point 4 below.

3. That I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the Work is original and, to the best of my knowledge, does not breach any laws – including those relating to defamation, libel and copyright.

4. That I have, in instances where the intellectual property of other authors or copyright holders is included in the Work, and where appropriate, gained explicit permission for the inclusion of that material in the Work, and in the electronic form of the Work as accessed through the open access digital repository, or that I have identified and removed that material for which adequate and appropriate permission has not been obtained and which will be inaccessible via the digital repository. 5. That Bangor University does not hold any obligation to take legal action on behalf of the Depositor, or other rights holders, in the event of a breach of intellectual property rights, or any other right, in the material deposited.

6. That I will indemnify and keep indemnified Bangor University and the National Library of Wales from and against any loss, liability, claim or damage, including without limitation any related legal fees and court costs (on a full indemnity bases), related to any breach by myself of any term of this agreement.

Signature: (K. Lambert-Slosarska)

Date : 06.11.2022

Abstract:

Abstract:

Wastewater based epidemiology (WBE) is an area of science that has gained a lot of traction in recent years and been at the forefront of monitoring the pandemic. This work focuses specifically on the Severe Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic and how we can used more unexplored methods in WBE, to detect and quantify viral loads, specifically passive sampling. This thesis is comprised of a literature review, giving an overview into SARS-CoV-2, the current applications of wastewater-based epidemiology and the knowledge gaps within this field. Passive sampling is the use of different materials which adsorb viruses and water for their concentration and subsequent elution. There are two data chapters both focusing on the use of passive sampling for the detection of SARS-CoV-2. The first chapter compared two extraction methods (manual and automated systems), three different sampling materials (cotton-based swab, ion exchange paper and tampon) and seven different concentration processes (direct extraction, squeeze, phosphate buffered solution (PBS) elution into polyethylene glycol (PEG), PBS elution into ammonium sulfate, beef extract elution into PEG, beef extract into ammonium sulfate, no-elution into PEG). It also explored the relationship between passive sampling and grab sampling. A manual extraction showed higher RNA recoveries and fewer results below the detection limit. We found that cotton tampons recovered the highest amounts of RNA in comparison to an electronegative membrane and cotton swabs. The highest viral load and human faecal indicator bacteriophage (crAssphage) were recovered with the no-elution PEG precipitation method. We found that passive sampling has a lower variability over time compared to wastewater grab samples. These results demonstrated that passive sampling is a low-cost, effective alternative to traditional liquid-based WBE to monitor low level viral loads in

wastewater. The second data chapter investigated the use of passive sampling further for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 and other enteric viruses from wastewater (Influenza A and B (Flu-A & B), SARS-CoV-2, human adenovirus (AdV), norovirus GII (NoVGII), measles virus (MeV), pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV), the faecal marker crAssphage and the process control virus Pseudomonas virus (phi6). This chapter compared the four highest viral recovery methods from the previous chapter; we found that the preferred viral recovery method from the tampon passive samplers was the no-elution/PEG precipitation method. We also compared three different tampon types and found that there were no significant differences between type and viral recovery. Furthermore, we demonstrated that non-enveloped viruses had higher percent recoveries from the passive samplers than enveloped viruses. This was the first study of its kind to assess passive sampler and viral recovery methods amongst a plethora of viruses commonly found in wastewater or used as a viral surrogate in wastewater studies. Overall, this thesis evidenced that tampons are the most suitable passive sampler material for the recovery of SARS-CoV-2, with different methods being preferential when detecting different viruses. Yet for all viral types, PEG based methods consistently recover the highest viral quantities. There are options to extend passive sampling further for the quantification of different pathogens such as bacteria, as well as options to extend these methods to other waterway systems.

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank Prof Davey Jones and Dr Jessica Kevill for their unwavering support as my supervisors throughout this project. Thanks to Davey for encouraging me to undertake the project and guiding me to always do more. Thank you to Jess for guiding me and teaching me new processes and making sure I always had the space and support to be able to complete this project and making sure I had self-belief. Thank you to Dr Kata Farkas for being such an inspiring manager, all her guidance and for all the cat memes when things went awfully wrong.

Thanking Dr Rachel Williams does not seem like enough but thank you for being an unwavering support/guide/mentor throughout both professionally and personally, thank you for your patience, emotional support and love of sours and Mexican food. A special shout out to all the office dogs (Dill, Pidgeon, Sid, Ember, Byron, and Jessie) who's cuddles are always appreciated. Thank you to Cameron Pellet for your patience and understanding when guiding me through R and statistical analyses with my hundreds of questions, as well as being someone I could always bounce ideas off, the best hype man.

Thank you to everyone who has helped me either work on an experiment or within the lab, your support and encouragement has really meant a lot (Tash, India, Nick, Nicky, Matt, Emma, Maria, Igor, Ben, Charlotte, Ceinwen, Denis).

Lastly thanks to my parents without I would definitely not be the person I am today.

Table of Contents

1.	Liter	rature Review	15			
1	.1	What is a virus?	15			
1	.2	COVID-19 pandemic	15			
1	.3	Monitoring methods of the COVID-19 pandemic				
1	.4	Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE)				
	1.4.1	Overview				
	1.4.2	2 SARS-CoV-2 wastewater-based monitoring				
	1.4.3	3 Grab sampling				
	1.4.4	Composite sampling				
	1.4.5	5 Passive sampling				
1	.5	Aims and Objectives				
1	.6	References				
2. Passive sampling a method for detecting SARS-CoV-2: A comparison of materials and processing methods						
2	2.1	Abstract				
2	2.2	Introduction				
2	2.3	Materials and Methods	51			
	2.3.1	Sampling sites and passive sampler materials.	51			
	2.3.2 for v	2 Initial testing to identify the optimal passive sampler material and extract viral recovery	ion method 53			
	2.3.3	Assessment of grab sampling compared to a passive sampling approach				
	2.3.4	Passive Sample concentration and nucleic acid extraction	54			
2	2.3.4.1	Squeeze method	55			
2	2.3.4.3	Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution into Polyethylene glycol (PEG) a	method 55			
2	2.4	q(RT-)PCR and qPCR analysis	57			
2	2.5	Data analysis and visualisation	59			
2	2.6	Statistical Analysis	59			
2	2.7	Results	60			
	2.7.1	Viral RNA Extraction comparison of manual vs. automatic	60			
	2.7.2	2 Effect of passive sample material on the comparison for viral recovery	63			

2.7.3	Comparison of crAssphage and N1 gc recovered from grab samples and passive	e
samj	plers	65
2.7.4	4 Comparison of viral recovery concentration methods for passive samples	67
2.7.5	5 Comparison of viral recovery from different tampon types	69
2.8	Discussion	70
2.8.1	SARS-CoV-2 detection in wastewater	70
2.8.2	2 Manual extractions compared to automatic extractions	71
2.8.1	Comparison of grab samples and passive samples viral recovery	72
2.8.2	2 Identification of the optimum passive sampler material	73
2.8.3	3 Comparison of passive sampler concentration methods	74
2.8.4	Further comparisons between passive sampler materials	76
2.9	Limitations of Passive sampling within WBE	77
2.10	Supplementary Material	78
2.11	Funding	82
2.12	Acknowledgements	82
2.13	Author contributions Error! Bookmark not de	fined.
2.14	Declaration of interests	83
2.15	References:	83
3. Asse other viru	essment of two types of passive sampler for the efficient recovery of SARS-CoV- uses from wastewater	-2 and 91
3.1	Abstract	91
3.2	Introduction	93
3.3	Methods	96
3.4	Study Aims	96
3.5	Sample collection	96
3.6	Viral stocks and spiking	97
3.7	Viral recovery methods	98
3.7.1 prec	Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution into polyethylene glycol (PEG) ipitation (PBS-PEG method)	99
3.7.2	2 Beef extract (BE) elution into PEG precipitation (BE-PEG method)	99
3.7.3	3 No elution in PEG precipitation (No elution-PEG method)	100
3.7.4	4 Direct extraction method	100
3.8	Quantification of viral RNA/DNA	100
3.9	Data analysis	105
3.10	Results	107

3.10	0.1 Wastewater reduces recovery of spiked virus compared to deionised w	vater 107	
3.10 was	10.2 Tampon passive samplers have improved recovery over Whatman parastewater samples	oer in 109	
3.10	0.3 No elution PEG and direct extraction methods have improved viral real	covery 111	
3.10	0.4 Enveloped viruses have reduced recovery using passive samplers	113	
3.11	Discussion	115	
3.12	Conclusion and future research	118	
3.13	Author contributions		
3.14	4 Funding		
3.15	5 Conflicts of interest		
3.16	.16 Acknowledgements		
3.17	References:	121	
4. Con	onclusion and Future Work	133	
4.1	Conclusion	133	
4.2	.2 Future Work		

Table of Contents

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 WHAT IS A VIRUS?

Viruses are biological entities that infect cells and replicate themselves, phages are viruses which infect bacteria (Breitbart and Rohwer, 2005). Viruses can exist outside of cells where RNA or DNA genomes are surrounded by a protein casing known as a capsid; these free particles are known as virions (Breitbart and Rohwer, 2005). There are an estimated 10^{31} to 10^{32} virus particles in the biosphere, which exceeds hosts by at least one order of magnitude (Bamford et al., 2005; Bergh et al., 1989). This means that almost all organisms are infected by viruses consistently, so much so that it is hypothesised that this could be one of the greatest selection pressures on cellular organisms, thus driving evolution (Bamford et al., 2005).

1.2 COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Coronaviruses are a group of highly diverse, positive-sense, single-stranded, enveloped RNA viruses, that infect mammals, including humans, and avian organisms (V'kovski et al., 2021). These viruses mainly result in respiratory and enteric infections (Corman et al., 2018). The most recent outbreak of coronavirus in humans was first detected in Wuhan, China in December 2019 (Wang et al., 2020), now known as the Severe Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), and which spread rapidly worldwide. This zoonotic disease seemed to originate from the natural host in bats and is the third documented case of animal coronavirus infecting humans

within the past two decades resulting in a major epidemic (Guo et al., 2020; "The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus," 2020).

Structurally, SARS-CoV-2 has four main proteins, 16 non-structural proteins (nsp) and eight accessory proteins (Jiang et al., 2020). The four main proteins, shared amongst the coronavirus family, are the spike glycoprotein (S), small envelope glycoprotein (E), membrane glycoprotein (M) and the nucleocapsid protein (N) (Astuti and Ysrafil, 2020; Forchette et al., 2021; Kaur et al., 2021). The S glycoprotein is a transmembrane protein, that forms homotrimers which protrude out of the viral surface. Each protein is comprised of two subunits (S1 and S2). There are three of these units in every S protein forming a trimer, and a single transmembrane (TM) anchor (Wrapp et al., 2020; Yao et al., 2020). The main entry receptor of the virus is the angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) on host cells, where SARS-CoV-2 binds via its S proteins (Walls et al., 2020). ACE2 are located in the respiratory tract cells, and highly expressed in the lower tract. The S1 subunit holds the receptor-binding domains (RBD) and is responsible for the binding to ACE2, while S2 promotes membrane fusion (Lan et al., 2020).

The N protein binds to the nucleic acid material of the virus, forming a long, flexible, helical nucleocapsid (Chang et al., 2006; Troyano-Hernáez et al., 2021). This multifunctional protein is required for the optimisation of SARS-CoV-2 replication, enhancing the efficiency of viral transcription and assembly, where it interacts with the M protein (Arndt et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2011). The N protein is also responsible for triggering the host cells response to a viral infection and plays an important role in viral pathogenesis. This protein assists the activation of Cyclooxygnase-2 (COX-2) which leads to lung inflammation (Yan et al., 2006). It also plays a role in the restriction of bodily immune responses via the inhibition of type I Interferon (Lu et al.,

2011). The M protein has three transmembrane domains and is the most abundant structural protein, playing a huge role in the virions assembly and encasing the virus (Arndt et al., 2010; Satarker and Nampoothiri, 2020).



Figure 1: SARS-CoV-2 genome and proteome, including virion structural proteins (teal), Nsps derived from polyproteins, pp1a, and pp1ab (shades of blue), open frame reading proteins (green). Taken from PDB-101, adapted from Lubin et al. (2022).

The Coronavirus Disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic was declared by the World Health Organisation (WHO) in March 2020. Since the first detection of the virus it has subsequently spread to over 210 countries and territories worldwide (Ali and Alharbi, 2020; Li et al., 2020). Transmission of the virus is thought to occur before or near to symptom onset, this is due to the short serial interval (3 – 5 days) compared to the incubation time of ~ 5 days (Cheng et al., 2020; Park et al., 2020; Quesada et al., 2021; Shah et al., 2022). This creates a high virulence of humanto-human infection rates, as the virus spreads faster than people present symptoms. COVID-19 is a wide-ranging infection on a clinical spectrum from asymptomatic infection to severe flu-like symptoms. Typically, most patients suffer from fever, dry cough and shortness of breath, with some severely symptomatic patients requiring hospitalisation that can ultimately result in death (Ali and Alharbi, 2020; Zhou et al., 2020). WHO reports (https:// covid19.who.int/) that as of the 23rd of August 2022 there have been 593,269,262 confirmed cases and 6,446,547deaths across the world.

There are certain risk factors associated with the severity and death rate of COVID-19 patients; including older aged patients (≥65) and those with at least one of several underlying health conditions, including respiratory and cardiovascular disease and cancer (CDC COVID-19 Response Team et al., 2020; Jordan et al., 2020; Mahase, 2020a). COVID-19 patients can suffer with 'Long-COVID', a term used to describe the long-term effects of the disease, lasting for more than 12 weeks post-infection (Mahase, 2020b; Sykes et al., 2021). The symptoms of which are wide-ranging causing many different ailments such as cardiopulmonary, glucometabolic and neuropsychiatric complications (Dasgupta et al., 2020; Sykes et al., 2021).

Since the emergence of SARS-CoV-2 in December 2020 there have been multiple different mutations within the genome creating different variants of the virus. These have caused controversy surrounding vaccine efficacy and effectivity (Forchette et al., 2021). Variants have been shown to produce different symptoms from the wild type. They have also been shown to

Chapter 1: Literature Review

have effects on the virulence of the virus due to the way the mutations affect the overall structure of the virus. For instance, the Delta variant has 23 mutations, 12 of which are in the Spike protein, resulting in the S protein having a different shape (Shiehzadegan et al., 2021). This conformational change means that the immune system cannot identify the virus as easily, meaning that less antibodies can bind to the virions. This makes new variants more infectious and the most transmissible, hence why in the UK new variants such as Omicron BE and BF lineages are now responsible for the majority for the COVID-19 cases being reported.

In November 2021 a new variant of concern has emerged, Omicron. This variant has multiple descendant lineages all of which are classed as variant of concern lineages under monitoring (VOC-LUM) (Table 1). These are classified as variants that according to phylogenetic analysis belong to a VOC, show transmission advantages and have additional amino acids responsible for the changes in epidemiology in comparison to other circulating variants. Since Omicron was first detected in November 2021 there have been six VOC-LUMs classified by WHO. In October 2021, Delta comprised almost 90% of viral sequences on GISAID (https://gisaid.org/), however, by February 2022 Omicron was the dominantly sequenced variant representing over 98% of infections ("Tracking SARS-CoV-2 variants," 2022). The evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 and thus, changes to the virus' shape, properties, and infectious levels, will continue to change throughout time. This makes the SARS-CoV-2 an ever-changing virus resulting in differences with human infection that will continue to need monitoring for a long time. This has created the need for the world to continue to monitor not only the virus itself but also the infected individuals in order to understand the evolution of the virus and the design of vaccines.

Table 1: List of all current and previous SARS-COV-2 (June 2022) Variants of Concern/Interest and those that have been previously according to

WHO.

WHO name Strain name		Country of first detection	First detection time	Variant of Concern or Variant of Interest and dates	
Alpha	B.1.1.7	UK	Sep-2020	VOC	
Beta	B.1.351	South Africa	May-2020	VOC	
Gamma	P.1	Brazil	Nov-2020	VOC	
Delta	B.617.2	India	Oct-2020	VOC	
Карра	B.617.1			VOC	
Lambda	C.37	Peru	Dec-2020	VOI	
Mu	B.1.621	Columbia	Jan-2021	VOI	
Карра	B.1.617.1	India	Oct-2020	VUM	
lota	B.1.526	USA	Nov-2020	VUM	
Eta	B.1.525	Multiple countries	Dec-2020	VUM	
Epsilon	B.1.227/B.1.429	USA	Mar-2020	VUM	

*VUM only the variants under monitoring are listed that have previously been those of interest or concern.

1.3 MONITORING METHODS OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic has been an interdisciplinary effort, relying heavily on clinical testing in healthcare facilities as well as home testing. Mass monitoring of the pandemic has also depended on the efforts of wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE). Diagnostic testing revolves around four main techniques: 1. RT-PCR (reverse transcriptase polymer chain reaction), 2. LAMP (loop-mediated isothermal amplification), 3. Lateral flow testing, and 4. ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Green et al., 2020).

The standard method used throughout the pandemic has been RT-(q)PCR. This method has been used for decades to detect genetic information and has proved sensitive, reliable and relatively quick to perform. However, it does require complex equipment and highly trained operators, which can delay efficiency and results as well as making it unfeasible for mass adoption in low middle income countries (Green et al., 2020; Thompson and Lei, 2020). PCR testing is the standard not only in clinical testing but also in WBE and is also the only detection method used to quantify virus levels within this study. LAMP assays are similar to conventional PCR testing, however, the process occurs at one temperature and is therefore quicker and easier to use (Thompson and Lei, 2020). The negatives of this technique is that, due to the novelty, it has not been as well validated as PCR, with some research suggesting that its diagnostic accuracy for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 is still unproven (Inaba et al., 2021).

Lateral flow tests are also referred to as antibody tests, due to their detection of antibodies in blood. Lateral flow tests are different to lateral flow devices that test for viral antigens within saliva, blood or mucus. This technology is more novel and mainly works on

patients with high viral loads, this is the least accurate testing type (Peto et al., 2021). However, it is the cheapest method and has been used for at home testing throughout the pandemic.

1.4 WASTEWATER-BASED EPIDEMIOLOGY (WBE)

1.4.1 Overview

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) is relatively new field compared to wastewater analysis with new advancements being continuously made, especially during recent years (Choi et al., 2018). Wastewater provides a complex matrix of different biological and chemical markers relating to human activity (Choi et al., 2018; Warwick et al., 2013). WBE can be defined as the normalisation of analyte influent concentrations per capita, using the daily flow and catchment population of specified wastewater treatment plants (WwTP), providing population-scale data on human activity within these catchment areas (Choi et al., 2018). The relative concentrations of these 'waste' markers can be quantified to inform on the activities and health of the inhabitants of the given WwTP catchment. WBE provides a cost-effective, accessible, noninvasive alternative to clinical community-level assessments for mass monitoring via the qualifying and quantifying of various 'waste' markers (Choi et al., 2018; Shah et al., 2022). These markers can be chemical; illicit and licit drugs, pharmaceuticals, chemical exposure or biological; diet markers, pathogens, and overall human health (Bowes and Halden, 2019; Escolà Casas et al., 2021; Feng et al., 2018; Gracia-Lor et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019).

Chapter 1: Literature Review



Figure 2: Mind map of the current and future uses of wastewater-based epidemiology. Each colour represents a different area of use. Taken from Choi et al. (2018).

Wastewater surveillance is made up of the WBE approach combined with current clinical testing to fully quantify any findings. Wastewater surveillance has previously been used to provide an early warning sign for viruses such as Hepatitis A and Norovirus outbreaks in Sweden in 2013 (Hellmér et al., 2014), while in Israel, 30-40% of the population was monitored by WBE detecting the early stages of an outbreak of paralytic polio, which in response the country implemented a mass vaccination program (Anis et al., 2013; Manor et al., 2014; Schmidt, 2020). The technique used in Israel was paramount in terms of eradicating paralytic polio infections; this worked so well due to three main factors, all which SARS-CoV-2 have in common, making it perfect for wastewater surveillance: (i) both viruses are excreted in large amounts of faecal matter, (ii) some people are asymptomatic resulting in undiagnosed populations, (iii) it allows for early detection and surveillance in wastewater creating a faster actionable dataset (Schmidt,

2020). WBE can provide a good overview of outbreaks occurring in any given catchment by testing a single sample. This contrasts to clinical surveillance which requires large numbers of samples entailing more time and costs incurred for a similar monitoring outcome.

1.4.2 SARS-CoV-2 wastewater-based monitoring

The first publication confirming positive detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater was in Australia published August 2020. Since then, many governments and companies around the world have employed WBE as a tool for monitoring COVID-19 (Ahmed et al., 2020a; Hillary et al., 2021; Medema et al., 2020; Shah et al., 2022). The comparatively new way of using WBE to provide an early warning system to monitor SARS-CoV-2 has left the field with a lack of clarity on the best sampling and processing methods for viral detection, with the least amount of work being done on passive samplers (Zhou et al., 2021). The process of WBE consists of five main steps consisting of (i) sampling, (ii) sample transport/storage, (iii) concentration of sample, (iv) extraction, and (v) detection. There are multiple methods of detection, including reverse transcriptase quantitative and digital droplet polymer-chain reaction (RT-qPCR, dd PCR), nested PCR, LAMP and CRISPR assays; all these techniques are high in sensitivity and specificity (Alygizakis et al., 2021; Eftekhari et al., 2021; Jalandra et al., 2020).

The sampling of wastewater used for viral detection will be explained in detail later. Sample storage is best at temperatures of 0-4°C with processing taking place within a few days of collection. Longer-term sample storage is best at much low temperatures (\leq -80°C), even though this is still being debated within the literature (Markt et al., 2021; Simpson et al., 2021). Sample concentration can be done using four broad method types, based on a variety of studies

conducted using various water types and viral quantification approaches: (i) two-phase separation/precipitation, (ii) particle exclusion, (iii) viruses adsorption elution (VIRADEL), and (iv) ultrafiltration (Lu et al., 2020). The two methods that are recommended by the World Health Organisation (WHO/V-B03.3) are the two-phase (PEG) and VIRADEL methods (Lu et al., 2020). However, the two-phase method is the most commonly and widely accepted method, with solutions such as PEG (polyethylene glycol) being the WHO standard method for environmental viral surveillance used in previous disease outbreaks (WHO, 2003). For this method, salt and metallic oxides can also be used. Particle exclusion uses soluble filtration via membranes to concentrate down viral matter. VIRADEL also works via filtration namely using cotton gauze pads, electronegative membranes and electropositive membrane filtration (Haramoto et al., 2004; Hata et al., 2015; Hsu et al., 2007; Liu et al., 1971). This method works well for high volumes of water. Yet the presence of organic matter leads to a reduction in the efficiency of viral concentrations. Ultrafiltration does not require the water samples to be preconditioned before extraction, unlike the PEG and electropositive membrane filtration methods, and allows for a varying range of water qualities to be used (Hill et al., 2007). Simply put, this method works by concentrating pathogens via size exclusion (Liu et al., 2012).

Wastewater samples positive for SARS-CoV-2 have been detected as early as two months prior to the first clinical case being identified (Hata and Honda, 2020). Viral shedding in faeces occurs around five days before symptom onset and has been reported to last up to 17.2 days (Cevik et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2020; Shah et al., 2022). Reports showed high levels of persistent faecal shedding of viral RNA in up to 89% of asymptomatic, presymptomatic and symptomatic people infected with SARS-CoV-2; with stool densities ranging 0.8 – 7.5 log₁₀ gene copies (gc) per

gram of faeces. The level of viral shedding is seemingly independent of the infection severity (Bivins et al., 2020; Cheung et al., 2020; Gerrity et al., 2021; Shah et al., 2022; Song et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2020) which allows most infected people to be monitored via WBE methods whether they are symptomatic or not.

1.4.3 Grab sampling

Grab sampling consists of taking a single point sample of wastewater at a specific time, usually untreated influent water. Grab sampling has been applied to many different studies due to the relatively low costs, ease of deployment and convenience of collection (Ahmed et al., 2020b; Liu et al., 2020a). This simple method is somewhat limited because samples are only representative of a single time point. The viral load of each sample will also be highly variable depending on the time of day, associated human actives, meaning that peak levels of shedding could be missed, while rainwater and other factors can also affect viral loads. Overall, grab sampling leads to a high level of uncertainty in RNA load as sample are rarely truly representative of the whole area. Consequently, other sampling techniques have been used to provide a more robust analysis of the levels of viral RNA in wastewater from a given population.

1.4.4 Composite sampling

Composite sampling is considered a more representative method, because it consists of the collection of numerous samples over a certain time period to form a homogenous sample representative of different time points (Johannessen et al., 2012). This means that due to the high number of smaller samples taken over a prolonged period the composite is unlikely to miss peaks and troughs in viral loads due to varying human activities within a wastewater shed. Both

grab and 24 h composite sampling are the two methods that are the most commonly used for WBE (Wilson et al., 2022). An automated sampling device like an autosampler can be used where you can set time points and sample volumes to fit your exact needs and to capture the highest viral load consistently of a catchment area, or just apply consistent timings so that data can be comparable for the same time over the study period.

Composite sampling either requires someone to stand and take multiple samples over the period or use a costly automated sampling device. Autosamplers can cost between £2,000-£6,000 each (Bivins et al., 2022) and can be costly to install and maintain. They also present their own set of challenges including the need for a large area and power supply. As such, these devices are not ideal for near-source monitoring in most cases (Liu et al., 2022). Overall, because of the high costs and maintenance, autosamplers may not be suitable for smaller catchment areas, low resource settings or near-source monitoring, meaning that cheaper alternatives are required. Finer spatial scales such as the analysis of specified buildings and residential areas may not hold enough space or have sewer networks suitable for composite sampling, requiring alternative methods of sampling that encompasses both the merits of the ease and low cost of grab sampling with the reliability and robust data that comes from composite sampling.

1.4.5 Passive sampling

Passive sampling is a technique that has been used worldwide for decades in environmental monitoring/surveillance and the investigation of pathogen outbreaks. The technique was originally adapted from Moore Swab sampling, where a cotton swab/gauze is tied by rope and suspended in flowing water to capture pathogens (Moore et al., 1952). The premise of this

Chapter 1: Literature Review

technique is based on the different charges of the materials and through hydrostatic bonds and different ion charges different materials will attract different pathogens (Castaño et al., 2020). The Moore Swab sampling was first used to detect *Salmonella Paratyphi B* from effluent wastewater sewage in the South of England, to find the source of sporadic outbreaks of paratyphoid fever (Sikorski and Levine, 2020). This type of sampling has been revived in recent years for the detection of *Salmonella* bacteria (Sikorski and Levine, 2020).

This technique works by continuously filtering waster through the materials membrane to 'trap' microorganisms, this can be physically, or through chemical interactions between pathogens and the material itself. The number of pathogens in wastewater and environmental waters can be very dilute, so the sampler effectively concentrates the virus increasing the sensitivity for detection (Vincent-Hubert et al., 2017, 2021). These microorganisms or viruses are then isolated and quantified, or their presence determined by various laboratory methods (e.g. culturing), depending on the pathogen of interest, the passive sampler used and the availability of cost/equipment/resources. Since the first use of Moore Swab sampler, there has been little innovations within the method. The notable two are the use of various materials with contrasting physical and chemical properties that will adhere to different pathogens, creating a wide range of potential applications for passive sampling. The other innovation has been the use of housings to hold the passive sampler materials facilitating easy deployment and which minimizes the risk of 'ragging' (Rusina et al., 2007; Schang et al., 2021). Ragging is defined as the accumulation of solids (>5 mm) within wastewater for instance toilet roll or food scraps (Schang et al., 2021). Hayes et al. (2021) developed a COVID-19 Sewer Cage (COSCa) for the housing of passive

samplers within pipelines which are designed to allow water to flow through them but withstand high temperatures and can be 3D printed to allow for public access of use.

Passive sampling is also ideal for areas of low income and resources as passive samplers are usually use readily available materials, making it a cost-effective alternative to traditional grab and composite sampling methods (Amereh et al., 2021). Previous studies have also reported that Moore-type sampling is more sensitive to changes in viral loads especially in low prevalence areas, when the virus is at an early stage of infection within a certain defined community (i.e. hospital, residential area, stadium etc) (Liu et al., 2020b). Studies have also shown that passive sampling has a higher rate of detecting low level viral loads, another reason why it is a superior method for near-source sampling. Passive sampling can also be deployed anywhere in comparison to composite sampling which has to either have someone on site for the entire sampling period or have a large heavy piece of equipment to capture the samples. This provides all sorts of requirements from the influent pipe not being too far away to the logistics of different manhole covers being accessible, meaning that passive sampling, if done correctly, could be more advantageous for near-source monitoring.

One study suggests that passive sampling is more in line with composite sampling compared to grab samples in terms of the viral quantification levels from manhole covers assessing small communities, meaning that this method of sampling could provide a cheaper more accessible type of COVID-19 WBE monitoring (Rafiee et al., 2021). Lui et al. (2022) also compared grab samples to passives from a university hospital and determined that passive sampling was more sensitive for the detection of SARS-CoV-2.

Studies have previously investigated passive sampling for the detection of SARS-CoV-2. These have included the analysis of much of the overall process, including the deployment of the samplers, various materials used as well as concentration methods. A variety of materials have been reviewed including various cotton materials (gauze, buds, Q-tips and cheesecloth), cellulose sponges, electronegative membrane, ion exchange paper, glass wool and tampons (Bivins et al., 2021; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Hayes et al., 2021; Schang et al., 2021; Habtewold et al., 2022). Due to the different methods of collection and viral concentration and extraction, direct comparison between the suitability of materials is difficult. This provides a large gap in knowledge surrounding different materials suitability for the process and which methods of processing are optimal for different materials.

1.5 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

This study aims to help close the knowledge gap surrounding passive sampling and its suitability for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater. In order to achieve this, the present study aimed to:

- Find the best method for passive sampling to monitor and detect SARS-CoV-2 from wastewater, by:
 - a. Comparing manual versus automatic extractions of passive samples
 - b. Comparing multiple materials for the use of passive sampling
 - c. Comparing multiple methods that concentrate and extract RNA from the optimum material for passive sampling

- 2. Optimise the use of passive sampling by comparing different methods of concentration and extraction of viral matter for multiple viruses.
 - a. To achieve this, the study will compare different passive sampling materials to find the optimum material for viral recovery. In addition, it will compare different viral concentration and RNA extraction methods for the detection of multiple viruses in the context of WBE.
 - b. We will also look at some of the characteristics of these viruses and see how they affect their recovery from passive samplers.

1.6 **REFERENCES**

- Ahmed, W., Angel, N., Edson, J., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., O'Brien, J.W., Choi, P.M., Kitajima, M., Simpson, S.L., Li, J., Tscharke, B., Verhagen, R., Smith, W.J.M., Zaugg, J., Dierens, L., Hugenholtz, P., Thomas, K.V., Mueller, J.F., 2020a. First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the wastewater surveillance of COVID-19 in the community. Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138764
- Ahmed, W., Bivins, A., Bertsch, P.M., Bibby, K., Choi, P.M., Farkas, K., Gyawali, P., Hamilton, K.A., Haramoto, E., Kitajima, M., Simpson, S.L., Tandukar, S., Thomas, K.V., Mueller, J.F., 2020b. Surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater: Methods optimization and quality control are crucial for generating reliable public health information. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health, Environmental Health: COVID-19 17, 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2020.09.003
- Ali, I., Alharbi, O.M.L., 2020. COVID-19: Disease, management, treatment, and social impact. Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138861
- Alygizakis, N., Markou, A.N., Rousis, N.I., Galani, A., Avgeris, M., Adamopoulos, P.G., Scorilas, A., Lianidou, E.S., Paraskevis, D., Tsiodras, S., Tsakris, A., Dimopoulos, M.-A., Thomaidis, N.S.,

2021. Analytical methodologies for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater: Protocols and future perspectives. TrAC Trends Anal. Chem. 134, 116125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2020.116125

- Amereh, F., Negahban-Azar, M., Isazadeh, S., Dabiri, H., Masihi, N., Jahangiri-rad, M., Rafiee, M.,
 2021. Sewage Systems Surveillance for SARS-CoV-2: Identification of Knowledge Gaps,
 Emerging Threats, and Future Research Needs. Pathogens 10, 946.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10080946
- Anis, E., Kopel, E., Singer, S.R., Kaliner, E., Moerman, L., Moran-Gilad, J., Sofer, D., Manor, Y., Shulman, L.M., Mendelson, E., Gdalevich, M., Lev, B., Gamzu, R., Grotto, I., 2013. Insidious reintroduction of wild poliovirus into Israel, 2013. Eurosurveillance 18, 20586. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2013.18.38.20586
- Arndt, A.L., Larson, B.J., Hogue, B.G., 2010. A Conserved Domain in the Coronavirus Membrane
 Protein Tail Is Important for Virus Assembly. J. Virol. 84, 11418–11428.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01131-10
- Astuti, I., Ysrafil, 2020. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2): An overview of viral structure and host response. Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev. 14, 407–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.04.020
- Bamford, D.H., Grimes, J.M., Stuart, D.I., 2005. What does structure tell us about virus evolution?
 Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol., Catalysis and regulation/Proteins 15, 655–663.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2005.10.012
- Bergh, Ø., BØrsheim, K.Y., Bratbak, G., Heldal, M., 1989. High abundance of viruses found in aquatic environments. Nature 340, 467–468. https://doi.org/10.1038/340467a0
- Bivins, A., Kaya, D., Ahmed, W., Brown, J., Butler, C., Greaves, J., Leal, R., Maas, K., Rao, G., Sherchan, S., Sills, D., Sinclair, R., Wheeler, R.T., Mansfeldt, C., 2022. Passive sampling to scale wastewater surveillance of infectious disease: Lessons learned from COVID-19. Sci. Total Environ. 835, 155347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155347
- Bivins, A., North, D., Ahmad, A., Ahmed, W., Alm, E., Been, F., Bhattacharya, P., Bijlsma, L., Boehm,
 A.B., Brown, J., Buttiglieri, G., Calabro, V., Carducci, A., Castiglioni, S., Cetecioglu Gurol, Z.,
 Chakraborty, S., Costa, F., Curcio, S., de los Reyes, F.L., Delgado Vela, J., Farkas, K.,

Fernandez-Casi, X., Gerba, C., Gerrity, D., Girones, R., Gonzalez, R., Haramoto, E., Harris, A., Holden, P.A., Islam, Md.T., Jones, D.L., Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., Kitajima, M., Kotlarz, N., Kumar, M., Kuroda, K., La Rosa, G., Malpei, F., Mautus, M., McLellan, S.L., Medema, G., Meschke, J.S., Mueller, J., Newton, R.J., Nilsson, D., Noble, R.T., van Nuijs, A., Peccia, J., Perkins, T.A., Pickering, A.J., Rose, J., Sanchez, G., Smith, A., Stadler, L., Stauber, C., Thomas, K., van der Voorn, T., Wigginton, K., Zhu, K., Bibby, K., 2020. Wastewater-Based Epidemiology: Global Collaborative to Maximize Contributions in the Fight Against COVID-19. Environ. Sci. Technol. 54, 7754–7757. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02388

- Bowes, D.A., Halden, R.U., 2019. Theoretical evaluation of using wastewater-based epidemiology to assess the nutritional status of human populations. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health, Environmental Chemistry: Sewage Epidemiology 9, 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2019.05.001
- Breitbart, M., Rohwer, F., 2005. Here a virus, there a virus, everywhere the same virus? Trends Microbiol. 13, 278–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2005.04.003
- Castaño, N., Cordts, S., Jalil, M.K., Zhang, K., Koppaka, S., Paul, R., Tang, S.K., 2020. Fomite transmission and disinfection strategies for SARS-CoV-2 and related viruses 40.
- CDC COVID-19 Response Team, CDC COVID-19 Response Team, Chow, N., Fleming-Dutra, K., Gierke, R., Hall, A., Hughes, M., Pilishvili, T., Ritchey, M., Roguski, K., Skoff, T., Ussery, E., 2020. Preliminary Estimates of the Prevalence of Selected Underlying Health Conditions Among Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 United States, February 12–March 28, 2020. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 69, 382–386. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6913e2
- Cevik, M., Tate, M., Lloyd, O., Maraolo, A.E., Schafers, J., Ho, A., 2021. SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and MERS-CoV viral load dynamics, duration of viral shedding, and infectiousness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Microbe 2, e13–e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(20)30172-5
- Chang, C., Sue, S.-C., Yu, T., Hsieh, C.-M., Tsai, C.-K., Chiang, Y.-C., Lee, S., Hsiao, H., Wu, W.-J., Chang, W.-L., Lin, C.-H., Huang, T., 2006. Modular organization of SARS coronavirus

nucleocapsid protein. J. Biomed. Sci. 13, 59–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11373-005-9035-9

- Cheng, H.-Y., Jian, S.-W., Liu, D.-P., Ng, T.-C., Huang, W.-T., Lin, H.-H., for the Taiwan COVID-19
 Outbreak Investigation Team, 2020. Contact Tracing Assessment of COVID-19
 Transmission Dynamics in Taiwan and Risk at Different Exposure Periods Before and After
 Symptom Onset. JAMA Intern. Med. 180, 1156–1163.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.2020
- Cheung, K.S., Hung, I.F.N., Chan, P.P.Y., Lung, K.C., Tso, E., Liu, R., Ng, Y.Y., Chu, M.Y., Chung, T.W.H., Tam, A.R., Yip, C.C.Y., Leung, K.-H., Fung, A.Y.-F., Zhang, R.R., Lin, Y., Cheng, H.M., Zhang, A.J.X., To, K.K.W., Chan, K.-H., Yuen, K.-Y., Leung, W.K., 2020. Gastrointestinal Manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Virus Load in Fecal Samples From a Hong Kong Cohort: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 159, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.03.065
- Choi, P.M., Tscharke, B.J., Donner, E., O'Brien, J.W., Grant, S.C., Kaserzon, S.L., Mackie, R., O'Malley, E., Crosbie, N.D., Thomas, K.V., Mueller, J.F., 2018. Wastewater-based epidemiology biomarkers: Past, present and future. TrAC Trends Anal. Chem. 105, 453– 469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.06.004
- Corman, V.M., Muth, D., Niemeyer, D., Drosten, C., 2018. Chapter Eight Hosts and Sources of Endemic Human Coronaviruses, in: Kielian, M., Mettenleiter, T.C., Roossinck, M.J. (Eds.), Advances in Virus Research. Academic Press, pp. 163–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aivir.2018.01.001
- Dasgupta, A., Kalhan, A., Kalra, S., 2020. Long term complications and rehabilitation of COVID-19 patients. J. Pak. Med. Assoc. 1. https://doi.org/10.5455/JPMA.32
- Eftekhari, A., Alipour, M., Chodari, L., Maleki Dizaj, S., Ardalan, M., Samiei, M., Sharifi, S., Zununi Vahed, S., Huseynova, I., Khalilov, R., Ahmadian, E., Cucchiarini, M., 2021. A Comprehensive Review of Detection Methods for SARS-CoV-2. Microorganisms 9, 232. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9020232
- Escolà Casas, M., Schröter, N.S., Zammit, I., Castaño-Trias, M., Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., Gago-Ferrero, P., Corominas, Ll., 2021. Showcasing the potential of wastewater-based
epidemiology to track pharmaceuticals consumption in cities: Comparison against prescription data collected at fine spatial resolution. Environ. Int. 150, 106404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106404

- Feng, L., Zhang, W., Li, X., 2018. Monitoring of regional drug abuse through wastewater-based epidemiology—A critical review. Sci. CHINA Earth Sci. 61, 239–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11430-017-9129-x
- Forchette, L., Sebastian, W., Liu, T., 2021. A Comprehensive Review of COVID-19 Virology, Vaccines, Variants, and Therapeutics. Curr. Med. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11596-021-2395-1
- Gerrity, D., Papp, K., Stoker, M., Sims, A., Frehner, W., 2021. Early-pandemic wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 in Southern Nevada: Methodology, occurrence, and incidence/prevalence considerations. Water Res. X 10, 100086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2020.100086
- Gracia-Lor, E., Rousis, N.I., Hernández, F., Zuccato, E., Castiglioni, S., 2018. Wastewater-Based Epidemiology as a Novel Biomonitoring Tool to Evaluate Human Exposure To Pollutants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 10224–10226. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01403
- Green, K., Winter, A., Dickinson, R., Graziadio, S., Wolff, R., Mallett, S., Allen, A.J., Park, E.B., 2020. What tests could potentially be used for the screening, diagnosis and monitoring of COVID-19 and what are their advantages and disadvantages. CEBM2020 13.
- Guo, Y.-R., Cao, Q.-D., Hong, Z.-S., Tan, Y.-Y., Chen, S.-D., Jin, H.-J., Tan, K.-S., Wang, D.-Y., Yan, Y.,
 2020. The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) outbreak an update on the status. Mil. Med. Res. 7, 11.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-020-00240-0

Haramoto, E., Katayama, H., Ohgaki, S., 2004. Detection of Noroviruses in Tap Water in Japan by
Means of a New Method for Concentrating Enteric Viruses in Large Volumes of
Freshwater. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 2154–2160.
https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.4.2154-2160.2004

- Hata, A., Honda, R., 2020. Potential Sensitivity of Wastewater Monitoring for SARS-CoV-2:
 Comparison with Norovirus Cases. Environ. Sci. Technol. 54, 6451–6452.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02271
- Hata, A., Matsumori, K., Kitajima, M., Katayama, H., 2015. Concentration of Enteric Viruses in Large Volumes of Water Using a Cartridge-Type Mixed Cellulose Ester Membrane. Food Environ. Virol. 7, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-014-9169-x
- Hellmér, M., Paxéus, N., Magnius, L., Enache, L., Arnholm, B., Johansson, A., Bergström, T., Norder, H., 2014. Detection of Pathogenic Viruses in Sewage Provided Early Warnings of Hepatitis A Virus and Norovirus Outbreaks. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 6771–6781. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01981-14
- Hill, V.R., Kahler, A.M., Jothikumar, N., Johnson, T.B., Hahn, D., Cromeans, T.L., 2007. Multistate Evaluation of an Ultrafiltration-Based Procedure for Simultaneous Recovery of Enteric Microbes in 100-Liter Tap Water Samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 4218–4225. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02713-06
- Hillary, L.S., Farkas, K., Maher, K.H., Lucaci, A., Thorpe, J., Distaso, M.A., Gaze, W.H., Paterson, S., Burke, T., Connor, T.R., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones, D.L., 2021. Monitoring SARS-CoV-2 in municipal wastewater to evaluate the success of lockdown measures for controlling COVID-19 in the UK. Water Res. 200, 117214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117214
- Hsu, B.-M., Chen, C.-H., Kung, C.-M., Wan, M.-T., Shen, S.-M., 2007. Evaluation of enterovirus recovery in surface water by different adsorption and elution procedures. Chemosphere 66, 964–969. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.06.054
- Inaba, M., Higashimoto, Y., Toyama, Y., Horiguchi, T., Hibino, M., Iwata, M., Imaizumi, K., Doi, Y.,
 2021. Diagnostic accuracy of LAMP versus PCR over the course of SARS-CoV-2 infection.
 Int. J. Infect. Dis. 107, 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2021.04.018
- Jalandra, R., Yadav, A.K., Verma, D., Dalal, N., Sharma, M., Singh, R., Kumar, A., Solanki, P.R., 2020. Strategies and perspectives to develop SARS-CoV-2 detection methods and diagnostics. Biomed. Pharmacother. 129, 110446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110446

- Jiang, S., Hillyer, C., Du, L., 2020. Neutralizing Antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 and Other Human Coronaviruses. Trends Immunol. 41, 355–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2020.03.007
- Johannessen, E., Eikum, A.S., Krogstad, T., 2012. Evaluation of sampling methods for monitoring effluent phosphorus for on-site wastewater treatment systems. Water Sci. Technol. 65, 2049–2054. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2012.107
- Jones, D.L., Baluja, M.Q., Graham, D.W., Corbishley, A., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Hillary, L.S., Connor, T.R., Gaze, W.H., Moura, I.B., Wilcox, M.H., Farkas, K., 2020. Shedding of SARS-CoV-2 in feces and urine and its potential role in person-to-person transmission and the environment-based spread of COVID-19. Sci. Total Environ. 749, 141364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141364
- Jordan, R.E., Adab, P., Cheng, K.K., 2020. Covid-19: risk factors for severe disease and death. BMJ 368, m1198. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1198
- Kaur, N., Singh, R., Dar, Z., Bijarnia, R.K., Dhingra, N., Kaur, T., 2021. Genetic comparison among various coronavirus strains for the identification of potential vaccine targets of SARS-CoV2. Infect. Genet. Evol. 89, 104490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2020.104490
- Lan, J., Ge, J., Yu, J., Shan, S., Zhou, H., Fan, S., Zhang, Q., Shi, X., Wang, Q., Zhang, L., Wang, X., 2020. Structure of the SARS-CoV-2 spike receptor-binding domain bound to the ACE2 receptor. Nature 581, 215–220. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2180-5
- Li, Q., Guan, X., Wu, P., Wang, X., Zhou, L., Tong, Y., Ren, R., Leung, K.S.M., Lau, E.H.Y., Wong, J.Y., Xing, X., Xiang, N., Wu, Y., Li, C., Chen, Q., Li, D., Liu, T., Zhao, J., Liu, M., Tu, W., Chen, C., Jin, L., Yang, R., Wang, Q., Zhou, S., Wang, R., Liu, H., Luo, Y., Liu, Y., Shao, G., Li, H., Tao, Z., Yang, Y., Deng, Z., Liu, B., Ma, Z., Zhang, Y., Shi, G., Lam, T.T.Y., Wu, J.T., Gao, G.F., Cowling, B.J., Yang, B., Leung, G.M., Feng, Z., 2020. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia. N. Engl. J. Med. 382, 1199–1207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316
- Liu, C., Brashear, D.A., Seraichekas, H.R., Barnick, J.A., Metcalf, T.G., 1971. I. A Preliminary Study on a Flow-Through Gauze Sampler for Recovering Virus from Waters 21, 6.

- Liu, P., Hill, V.R., Hahn, D., Johnson, T.B., Pan, Y., Jothikumar, N., Moe, C.L., 2012. Hollow-fiber ultrafiltration for simultaneous recovery of viruses, bacteria and parasites from reclaimed water. J. Microbiol. Methods 88, 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.11.007
- Liu, P., Ibaraki, M., VanTassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Guo, L., Moe, C.L., 2022. A sensitive, simple, and low-cost method for COVID-19 wastewater surveillance at an institutional level. Sci. Total Environ. 807, 151047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151047
- Liu, P., Ibaraki, M., VanTassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Moe, C., 2020. A Novel COVID-19 Early Warning Tool: Moore Swab Method for Wastewater Surveillance at an Institutional Level. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.01.20238006
- Lu, D., Huang, Z., Luo, J., Zhang, X., Sha, S., 2020. Primary concentration The critical step in implementing the wastewater based epidemiology for the COVID-19 pandemic: A minireview. Sci. Total Environ. 747, 141245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141245
- Lu, X., Pan, J., Tao, J., Guo, D., 2011. SARS-CoV nucleocapsid protein antagonizes IFN-β response by targeting initial step of IFN-β induction pathway, and its C-terminal region is critical for the antagonism. Virus Genes 42, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11262-010-0544-x
- Lubin, J.H., Zardecki, C., Dolan, E.M., Lu, C., Shen, Z., Dutta, S., Westbrook, J.D., Hudson, B.P., Goodsell, D.S., Williams, J.K., Voigt, M., Sarma, V., Xie, L., Venkatachalam, T., Arnold, S., Alfaro Alvarado, L.H., Catalfano, K., Khan, A., McCarthy, E., Staggers, S., Tinsley, B., Trudeau, A., Singh, J., Whitmore, L., Zheng, H., Benedek, M., Currier, J., Dresel, M., Duvvuru, A., Dyszel, B., Fingar, E., Hennen, E.M., Kirsch, M., Khan, A.A., Labrie-Cleary, C., Laporte, S., Lenkeit, E., Martin, K., Orellana, M., Ortiz-Alvarez de la Campa, M., Paredes, I., Wheeler, B., Rupert, A., Sam, A., See, K., Soto Zapata, S., Craig, P.A., Hall, B.L., Jiang, J., Koeppe, J.R., Mills, S.A., Pikaart, M.J., Roberts, R., Bromberg, Y., Hoyer, J.S., Duffy, S., Tischfield, J., Ruiz, F.X., Arnold, E., Baum, J., Sandberg, J., Brannigan, G., Khare, S.D., Burley, S.K., 2022. Evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 proteome in three dimensions (3D) during the first 6 months of the COVID-19 pandemic. Proteins Struct. Funct. Bioinforma. 90, 1054–1080. https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.26250

- Mahase, E., 2020a. Covid-19: death rate is 0.66% and increases with age, study estimates. BMJ Br. Med. J. Online 369. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1327
- Mahase, E., 2020b. Covid-19: What do we know about "long covid"? BMJ m2815. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2815
- Manor, Y., Shulman, L.M., Kaliner, E., Hindiyeh, M., Ram, D., Sofer, D., Moran-Gilad, J., Lev, B., Grotto, I., Gamzu, R., Mendelson, E., 2014. Intensified environmental surveillance supporting the response to wild poliovirus type 1 silent circulation in Israel, 2013. Eurosurveillance 19. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014.19.7.20708
- Markt, R., Mayr, M., Peer, E., Wagner, A.O., Lackner, N., Insam, H., 2021. Detection and Stability of SARS-CoV-2 Fragments in Wastewater: Impact of Storage Temperature. Pathogens 10, 1215. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10091215
- Medema, G., Heijnen, L., Elsinga, G., Italiaander, R., Brouwer, A., 2020. Presence of SARS-Coronavirus-2 RNA in Sewage and Correlation with Reported COVID-19 Prevalence in the Early Stage of the Epidemic in The Netherlands. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 7, 511–516. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00357
- Moore, B., Perry, Col.E.L., Chard, S.T., 1952. A Survey by the sewage swab method of latent enteric infection in an urban area. J. Hyg. (Lond.) 50, 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022172400019501
- Neuman, B.W., Kiss, G., Kunding, A.H., Bhella, D., Baksh, M.F., Connelly, S., Droese, B., Klaus, J.P.,
 Makino, S., Sawicki, S.G., Siddell, S.G., Stamou, D.G., Wilson, I.A., Kuhn, P., Buchmeier,
 M.J., 2011. A structural analysis of M protein in coronavirus assembly and morphology. J.
 Struct. Biol. 174, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsb.2010.11.021
- Organization, W.H., 2003. Guidelines for environmental surveillance of poliovirus circulation. Guidel. Environ. Surveill. Poliovirus Circ.
- Park, M., Cook, A.R., Lim, J.T., Sun, Y., Dickens, B.L., 2020. A Systematic Review of COVID-19 Epidemiology Based on Current Evidence. J. Clin. Med. 9, 967. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9040967
- Peto, T., Affron, D., Afrough, B., Agasu, A., Ainsworth, M., Allanson, A., Allen, K., Allen, C., Archer, L., Ashbridge, N., Aurfan, I., Avery, M., Badenoch, E., Bagga, P., Balaji, R., Baldwin, E.,

Barraclough, S., Beane, C., Bell, J., Benford, T., Bird, S., Bishop, M., Bloss, A., Body, R., Boulton, R., Bown, A., Bratten, C., Bridgeman, C., Britton, D., Brooks, T., Broughton-Smith, M., Brown, P., Buck, B., Butcher, E., Byrne, W., Calderon, G., Campbell, S., Carr, O., Carter, P., Carter, D., Cathrall, M., Catton, M., Chadwick, J., Chapman, D., Chau, K.K., Chaudary, T., Chidavaenzi, S., Chilcott, S., Choi, B., Claasen, H., Clark, S., Clarke, R., Clarke, D., Clayton, R., Collins, K., Colston, R., Connolly, J., Cook, E., Corcoran, M., Corley, B., Costello, L., Coulson, C., Crook, A., Crook, D.W., D'Arcangelo, S., Darby, M.-A., Davis, J., de Koning, R., Derbyshire, P., Devall, P., Dolman, M., Draper, N., Driver, M., Dyas, S., Eaton, E., Edwards, J., Elderfield, R., Ellis, K., Ellis, G., Elwell, S., Evans, Rachel, Evans, B., Evans, M., Evans, Ranoromanana, Eyre, D., Fahey, C., Fenech, V., Field, J., Field, A., Foord, T., Fowler, T., French, M., Fuchs, H., Gan, J., Gernon, J., Ghadiali, G., Ghuman, N., Gibbons, K., Gill, G., Gilmour, K., Goel, A., Gordon, S., Graham, T., Grassam-Rowe, A., Green, D., Gronert, A., Gumsley-Read, T., Hall, C., Hallis, B., Hammond, S., Hammond, P., Hanney, B., Hardy, V., Harker, G., Harris, A., Havinden-Williams, M., Hazell, E., Henry, J., Hicklin, K., Hollier, K., Holloway, B., Hoosdally, S.J., Hopkins, S., Hughes, L., Hurdowar, S., Hurford, S.-A., Jackman, J., Jackson, H., Johns, R., Johnston, S., Jones, J., Kanyowa, T., Keating-Fedders, K., Kempson, S., Khan, I., Khulusi, B., Knight, T., Krishna, A., Lahert, P., Lampshire, Z., Lasserson, D., Lee, K., Lee, L.Y.W., Legard, A., Leggio, C., Liu, J., Lockett, T., Logue, C., Lucas, V., Lumley, S.F., Maripuri, V., Markham, D., Marshall, E., Matthews, P.C., Mckee, S., McKee, D.F., McLeod, N., McNulty, A., Mellor, F., Michel, R., Mighiu, A., Miller, J., Mirza, Z., Mistry, H., Mitchell, J., Moeser, M.E., Moore, S., Muthuswamy, A., Myers, D., Nanson, G., Newbury, M., Nicol, S., Nuttall, H., Nwanaforo, J.J., Oliver, L., Osbourne, W., Osbourne, J., Otter, A., Owen, J., Panchalingam, S., Papoulidis, D., Pavon, J.D., Peace, A., Pearson, K., Peck, L., Pegg, A., Pegler, S., Permain, H., Perumal, P., Peto, L., Peto, T.E.A., Pham, T., Pickford, H.L., Pinkerton, M., Platton, M., Price, A., Protheroe, E., Purnell, H., Rawden, L., Read, S., Reynard, C., Ridge, S., Ritter, T.G., Robinson, J., Robinson, P., Rodger, G., Rowe, C., Rowell, B., Rowlands, A., Sampson, S., Saunders, K., Sayers, R., Sears, J., Sedgewick, R., Seeney, L., Selassie, A., Shail, L., Shallcross, J., Sheppard, L., Sherkat, A., Siddiqui, S., Sienkiewicz, A., Sinha, L., Smith, J., Smith, E., Stanton, E., Starkey, T., Stawiarski, A., Sterry,

A., Stevens, J., Stockbridge, M., Stoesser, N., Sukumaran, A., Sweed, A., Tatar, S., Thomas, H., Tibbins, C., Tiley, S., Timmins, J., Tomas-Smith, C., Topping, O., Turek, E., Neibler, T., Trigg-Hogarth, K., Truelove, E., Turnbull, C., Tyrrell, D., Vaughan, A., Vertannes, J., Vipond, R., Wagstaff, L., Waldron, J., Walker, P., Walker, A.S., Walters, M., Wang, J.Y., Watson, E., Webberley, K., Webster, K., Westland, G., Wickens, I., Willcocks, J., Willis, H., Wilson, S., Wilson, B., Woodhead, L., Wright, D., Xavier, B., Yelnoorkar, F., Zeidan, L., Zinyama, R., 2021. COVID-19: Rapid antigen detection for SARS-CoV-2 by lateral flow assay: A national systematic evaluation of sensitivity and specificity for mass-testing. EClinicalMedicine 36, 100924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100924

- Quesada, J.A., López-Pineda, A., Gil-Guillén, V.F., Arriero-Marín, J.M., Gutiérrez, F., Carratala-Munuera, C., 2021. Incubation period of COVID-19: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Rev. Clínica Esp. Engl. Ed. 221, 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rceng.2020.08.002
- Rafiee, M., Isazadeh, S., Mohseni-Bandpei, A., Mohebbi, S.R., Jahangiri-rad, M., Eslami, A., Dabiri,
 H., Roostaei, K., Tanhaei, M., Amereh, F., 2021. Moore swab performs equal to composite
 and outperforms grab sampling for SARS-CoV-2 monitoring in wastewater. Sci. Total
 Environ. 790, 148205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148205
- Satarker, S., Nampoothiri, M., 2020. Structural Proteins in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2. Arch. Med. Res. 51, 482–491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.05.012
- Schang, C., Crosbie, N.D., Nolan, M., Poon, R., Wang, M., Jex, A., John, N., Baker, L., Scales, P.,
 Schmidt, J., Thorley, B.R., Hill, K., Zamyadi, A., Tseng, C.-W., Henry, R., Kolotelo, P.,
 Langeveld, J., Schilperoort, R., Shi, B., Einsiedel, S., Thomas, M., Black, J., Wilson, S.,
 McCarthy, D.T., 2021. Passive Sampling of SARS-CoV-2 for Wastewater Surveillance.
 Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 10432–10441. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c01530
- Schmidt, C., 2020. Watcher in the wastewater. Nat. Biotechnol. 38, 917–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-020-0620-2

- Shah, S., Gwee, S.X.W., Ng, J.Q.X., Lau, N., Koh, J., Pang, J., 2022. Wastewater surveillance to infer COVID-19 transmission: A systematic review. Sci. Total Environ. 804, 150060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150060
- Shiehzadegan, S., Alaghemand, N., Fox, M., Venketaraman, V., 2021. Analysis of the Delta Variant B.1.617.2 COVID-19. Clin. Pract. 11, 778–784. https://doi.org/10.3390/clinpract11040093
- Sikorski, M.J., Levine, M.M., 2020. Reviving the "Moore Swab": a Classic Environmental Surveillance Tool Involving Filtration of Flowing Surface Water and Sewage Water To Recover Typhoidal Salmonella Bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00060-20
- Simpson, A., Topol, A., White, B., Wolfe, M., Wigginton, K., Boehm, A.B., 2021. Effect of storage conditions on SARS-CoV-2 RNA quantification in wastewater solids.
- Song, Z., Reinke, R., Hoxsey, M., Jackson, J., Krikorian, E., Melitas, N., Rosso, D., Jiang, S., 2021.
 Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Wastewater: Community Variability, Temporal Dynamics, and
 Genotype Diversity. ACS EST Water 1, 1816–1825.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/acsestwater.1c00119
- Sykes, D.L., Holdsworth, L., Jawad, N., Gunasekera, P., Morice, A.H., Crooks, M.G., 2021. Post-COVID-19 Symptom Burden: What is Long-COVID and How Should We Manage It? Lung 199, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-021-00423-z
- The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2, 2020. Nat. Microbiol. 5, 536–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-020-0695-z
- Thompson, D., Lei, Y., 2020. Mini review: Recent progress in RT-LAMP enabled COVID-19 detection. Sens. Actuators Rep. 2, 100017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snr.2020.100017
- Tracking SARS-CoV-2 variants [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://www.who.int/activities/tracking-SARS-CoV-2-variants (accessed 6.21.22).
- Troyano-Hernáez, P., Reinosa, R., Holguín, Á., 2021. Evolution of SARS-CoV-2 Envelope, Membrane, Nucleocapsid, and Spike Structural Proteins from the Beginning of the Pandemic to September 2020: A Global and Regional Approach by Epidemiological Week. Viruses 13, 243. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13020243

- V'kovski, P., Kratzel, A., Steiner, S., Stalder, H., Thiel, V., 2021. Coronavirus biology and replication: implications for SARS-CoV-2. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 19, 155–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00468-6
- Walls, A.C., Park, Y.-J., Tortorici, M.A., Wall, A., McGuire, A.T., Veesler, D., 2020. Structure, Function, and Antigenicity of the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Glycoprotein. Cell 181, 281-292.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.058
- Wang, C., Horby, P.W., Hayden, F.G., Gao, G.F., 2020. A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. Lancet Lond. Engl. 395, 470–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30185-9
- Warwick, C., Guerreiro, A., Soares, A., 2013. Sensing and analysis of soluble phosphates in environmental samples: A review. Biosens. Bioelectron. 41, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2012.07.012
- Wilson, M., Qiu, Y., Yu, J., Lee, B.E., McCarthy, D.T., Pang, X., 2022. Comparison of Auto Sampling and Passive Sampling Methods for SARS-CoV-2 Detection in Wastewater. Pathogens 11, 359. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11030359
- Wrapp, D., Wang, N., Corbett, K.S., Goldsmith, J.A., Hsieh, C.-L., Abiona, O., Graham, B.S., McLellan, J.S., 2020. Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation. Science 367, 1260–1263. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb2507
- Yan, X., Hao, Q., Mu, Y., Timani, K.A., Ye, L., Zhu, Y., Wu, J., 2006. Nucleocapsid protein of SARS-CoV activates the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 by binding directly to regulatory elements for nuclear factor-kappa B and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 38, 1417–1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2006.02.003
- Yao, H., Song, Y., Chen, Y., Wu, N., Xu, J., Sun, C., Zhang, J., Weng, T., Zhang, Z., Wu, Z., Cheng, L.,
 Shi, D., Lu, X., Lei, J., Crispin, M., Shi, Y., Li, L., Li, S., 2020. Molecular Architecture of the
 SARS-CoV-2 Virus. Cell 183, 730-738.e13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.09.018
- Zhang, Y., Duan, L., Wang, B., Du, Y., Cagnetta, G., Huang, J., Blaney, L., Yu, G., 2019. Wastewaterbased epidemiology in Beijing, China: Prevalence of antibiotic use in flu season and association of pharmaceuticals and personal care products with socioeconomic characteristics. Environ. Int. 125, 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.061

- Zheng, S., Fan, J., Yu, F., Feng, B., Lou, B., Zou, Q., Xie, G., Lin, S., Wang, R., Yang, X., Chen, W., Wang, Q., Zhang, D., Liu, Y., Gong, R., Ma, Z., Lu, S., Xiao, Y., Gu, Y., Zhang, J., Yao, H., Xu, K., Lu, X., Wei, G., Zhou, J., Fang, Q., Cai, H., Qiu, Y., Sheng, J., Chen, Y., Liang, T., 2020. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 369, m1443. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1443
- Zhou, F., Yu, T., Du, R., Fan, G., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Xiang, J., Wang, Y., Song, B., Gu, X., Guan, L., Wei,
 Y., Li, H., Wu, X., Xu, J., Tu, S., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., Cao, B., 2020. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. The Lancet 395, 1054–1062. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

Chapter 2: Passive sampling a method for detecting SARS-CoV-2: A comparison of materials and processing methods (IN PREP)

Authorship declaration statement:

KLS, CP, JK, KF and DLJ conceived the project. KLS and JK undertook the experimental work. KLS led the writing of the manuscript, with contributions from CP. All other authors contributed to the final draft of the manuscript.

2. PASSIVE SAMPLING A METHOD FOR DETECTING SARS-CoV-2: A COMPARISON OF MATERIALS AND PROCESSING METHODS

Kathryn Lambert-Slosarska^a, Cameron Pellett^a, Jessica L. Kevill^a, Kata Farkas^{a,b}, Davey L. Jones^{a,c} ^a Centre for Environmental Biotechnology, School of Natural Sciences, Bangor University, Bangor, Gwynedd, LL57 2UW, UK

^b School of Ocean Sciences, Bangor University, Menai Bridge, Anglesey, LL59 5AB, UK ^c Food Futures Institute, Murdoch University, Murdoch, WA 6105, Australia

2.1 Abstract

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) has been at the forefront of many national monitoring programmes evaluating the spread of COVID-19 within urban communities. This has led to the rapid development of many WBE methodologies for recovering, quantifying and sequencing SARS-CoV-2 RNA within wastewater. One such low-cost approach has been the adoption of passive sampling, particularly for near-source surveillance. However little research has been conducted comparing different passive sampler materials and methods for the recovery of SARS-CoV-2 RNA from the sample after deployment. This paper aims to address this knowledge gap by comparing three different sampling materials, two extraction methods and seven different concentration processes. We found that cotton tampons recovered the highest amounts of RNA in comparison to an electronegative membrane and cotton swabs. A no-elution PEG precipitation method recovered the highest viral load and human faecal indicator bacteriophage (crAssphage), with a manual extraction showing higher RNA recoveries and fewer negative results. Our results demonstrate that passive sampling is a low-cost, effective alternative to traditional liquid-based

WBE to monitor low level viral loads in wastewater. This study is the first of its kind to compare both the methodology of viral recoveries and materials used within passive sampling at a wastewater treatment site.

Keywords: Passive sampling; Sewage surveillance; COVID-19 pandemic; Public health monitoring; Viral capture

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Since the COVID-19 pandemic was declared in March 2020, researchers have been developing new methods for treating and tracking the causative agent, SARS-CoV-2. SARS-CoV-2 is an enveloped, positive sense, single-stranded RNA virus, that infects humans through their respiratory and gastrointestinal tract (Qian et al., 2021), resulting in viral shedding in saliva and excreta; mainly faecal matter (Wang et al., 2020). Shedding through faecal matter has been shown to occur in ca. 50% of cases with shedding often persisting for longer than in nasopharyngeal fluids. Those infected with SARS-CoV-2 typically shed between 2 to 8 log₁₀ genome copies (gc) per gram in both their saliva and stool which can occur before symptom onset (Cheung et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). Symptomatic individuals are often confirmed as positive cases by measuring respiratory shed with lateral flow or reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) testing, but up to 50% of positive cases are asymptomatic, and are thus less likely to seek out testing ("Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey, characteristics of people testing positive for COVID-19, UK - Office for National Statistics). Viral shedding in stool occurs in both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases, so can be measured in wastewater to monitor the epidemiology of SARS-CoV-2 at a community level (Wade et al., 2022). Wastewater-based

epidemiology (WBE) can, thus, be used to assess asymptomatic cases that go undetected by mass clinical testing, especially as the rate of viral shedding in faeces appears to be independent of infection severity (Gerrity et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2020). WBE therefore represents a costeffective, unbiased, and non-invasive complementary approach to clinical testing for monitoring community-level viral infections over prolonged periods of time (Choi et al., 2018).

Sampling for WBE is ideally carried out using an autosampler that recovers a 'composite' wastewater sample taken incrementally over the course of 24 hours. However, the use of autosamplers can be costly as well as requiring specialist expertise, a power supply and continual maintenance. In addition, they are often not suitable for confined spaces or for use where sewer manholes are located (e.g. roads), are prone to vandalism and theft in public places and may not be legally compliant in some situations. Due to these issues, 'grab' or 'spot' sampling is frequently carried out, where a sample is collected at one instant in time, which can result in a high degree of intrinsic variability depending on the relationship between sampling and facility use in the community (Wade et al., 2022). Passive sampling is a promising alternative which is currently being explored for SARS-CoV-2 and human pathogen detection (Li et al., 2022). Stemming from Moore Swab sampling (Moore et al., 1952), passive sampling is an environmental surveillance tool where a material, usually gauze or cotton, is suspended into flowing water to gradually accumulate virus over time, making it effective for low viral load detection (Blanco et al., 2019; Vincent-Hubert et al., 2021). This method has been used for decades for the detection of enteric viruses in public and environmental health studies (Barrett et al., 1980; Sbodio et al., 2013; Sikorski and Levine, 2020). The ease of use in confined areas and low cost make passive sampling a great alternative to autosamplers, especially in low economic resource areas (Liu et al., 2020).

Due to their low cost and ease of use, passive samplers also provide an opportunity to measure smaller catchment areas or near-source environments (e.g. prisons, residential blocks), which may prove useful if the prevalence of COVID-19 subsides and the monitoring of local areas and individual organisations and critical infrastructure (e.g. military installations) becomes more important (Hayes et al., 2021).

Passive sampler materials contain surfaces which can electrostatically bind SARS-CoV-2, as well as possessing properties that facilitate physical entrapment of wastewater solids to which viruses may be attached. The overall binding ability and net charge of the virion are largely dependent on the spike proteins size, abundance, and composition (Adamczyk et al., 2021). In a wastewater environment with pH range of 7.0-8.0, SARS-CoV-2 is suggested to have a net electronegatively charged envelope and spike proteins (Scheller et al., 2020). Free RNA released from virions are also present in wastewater are also expected to be highly negatively charged (Draper, 2004). Thus, materials used for passive sampling should preferentially be electro-positively charged. This, alongside different hydrophobic and van der Waals interactions are how viruses bind to different passive samplers. This phenomenon is well documented within the sampling of airborne viruses and their adhesion to passive samplers (Robotto et al., 2021; Verreault et al., 2008). The principles of these adhesions are still very much relevant despite the change in media, therefore the virus type as well as the physio-chemical properties of the sampling material will affect the recovery of different viruses (Rzeżutka and Carducci, 2013).

Despite the promising application of passive samplers, research into viral processing methods has mainly been focused on the optimisation of techniques applied to grab and composite samples (Ahmed et al., 2020; Kumblathan et al., 2021). Little attention has been paid

to passive sampling for wastewater virology, with it only gaining attention during the COVID-19 pandemic (Schang et al., 2021). Passive sample materials tested across multiple studies include cotton materials (e.g. gauze, buds and cheesecloth), cellulose sponges, electronegative membranes, ion exchange paper, glass wool and tampons. These have used a range of laboratory processing methods to recover viruses from their surface, including direct extraction, no-elution methods, elution buffer (lysis buffer, phosphate buffered saline, PBS) processing and the ultrafiltration of sorbates (Bivins et al., 2021; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Habtewold et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Schang et al., 2021). However, most studies only apply individual recovery approaches when comparing the effectiveness of passive sampler materials for viral capture (Bivins et al., 2021; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Habtewold et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Lambertini et al., 2008; Schang et al., 2021). An exception to this is a recent study by Kevill et al. (2022a) which tested a range of passive sampler materials, processing methods and viral targets under laboratory conditions. Studies have also focused on minimizing issues that can arise when using passive sampling approaches, such as ragging. Ragging is the accumulation of debris on the sampler itself which can lead to sewer blocking and inefficient viral capture due to the covering of viral capture surfaces.

This study, therefore, aims to close the research gap by deploying three contrasting passive sampler materials (Cotton swabs, SG81 Whatman ion exchange paper and Tampax super compact) at a centralised wastewater treatment works (WwTW) at a major urban centre (Chester) and investigating appropriate methods for laboratory processing, including sample concentration and extraction of nucleic acids from passive samplers, as well as identifying the best material for SARS-CoV-2 recovery. We also measured the levels of crAssphage (a human

DNA virus) used as a human faecal marker which is often used to normalise for wastewater dilution (Langeveld et al., 2021). We compared seven concentration methods: squeeze in PEG (glycol-8000) precipitation, PBS elution into PEG precipitation, PBS elution into ammonium sulfate precipitation, beef extract/glycine elution into PEG precipitation, beef extract/glycine elution into ammonium sulfate precipitation, no-elution into PEG precipitation, and direct extraction. Alongside two extraction methods, one being an automatic extraction using a Kingfisher Flex system and the other conducted manually, with the best material being further specified. The overall aim of this study was to determine the most compatible material and method for monitoring SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater using passive sampling as a method of detection.

2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.3.1 Sampling sites and passive sampler materials.

Four separate experiments were conducted over the course of July2021 to October 2021. The samples for the nucleic acid extraction were collected from a principal wastewater treatment plant in Chester (northwest of England) in July 2021 and the samplers were deployed for varying amounts of time (0.5, 1, 3,6 and 24 h), with two materials used (Tampax Compak regular tampons and cotton swabs).

The experiment identifying the optimal passive sampler material was conducted at a principal wastewater treatment plant in the northwest of England (Chester) in August 2021. Three different materials were used: Tampax Compak super tampons, cotton swab and paper (SG81 ion exchange Whatman paper), these were used based on their previous use for

viral recovery in different aqueous environments (Barrett et al., 1980; Bivins et al., 2021; Zou et al., 2017). These materials have been previously tested for their basic physical and chemical characteristics (Jones et al., 2022). These passive samplers were deployed in the crude influent stream behind the primary screen grate for 24 h.

For the assessment of grab sampling compared to a passive sampling approach tampons were used based on the outcome of the passive sampler material comparison experiment. Grab samples taken hourly for 24 h, three passive samplers were deployed for 24 h over four six days in August 2021. Each sampler was placed behind the primary screen gate and tied using fishing wire.

For the comparison of the concentration of passive sampler materials and nucleic extraction only tampons were used, as these were identified as having the highest viral recovery. Three tampon types (Asda regular, Tampax Compak super and Tampax Pearl super) were used to assess the impact of tampon type and best method for the SARS-CoV-2 and crAssphage recovery. This experiment was conducted at a large urban wastewater treatment plant in Bangor (North Wales). Each passive sampler type was placed in a separate rectangle of polypropylene mesh and deployed into the influent stream of wastewater for 1 h. Each sample was run in triplicate.

For all experiments the passive samples were transferred into a plastic Ziplock[®] bag whilst the liquid samples were stored in 500 ml Nalgene polypropylene copolymer (PPCO) centrifuge bottles. All passive samplers and liquid samples were stored and transported on ice at 4°C to the laboratory for processing. Upon arrival samples were all stored at 4°C until sample processing on the same day or the day after.

2.3.2 Initial testing to identify the optimal passive sampler material and extraction method for viral recovery

For the two initial experiments, a direct extraction method was performed. Samples of

each passive sampler (1 cm²) were placed in 15 mL centrifuge tubes containing 2 mL of NucliSens lysis buffer (BioMerieux, Marcy-l'Étoile, France; Cat No. 280134 or 200292). The tubes were then vortexed and prepared for manual nucleic acid extraction as detailed in Farkas et al. (2021). The concentrated solution was extracted both manually and automatically, using the NucliSens MiniMag Nucleic Acid Purification system (BioMerieux SA, Marcy-l'Etoile, France) (manual) and a Kingfisher 96 Flex system (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) (Automatic), both as detailed in Farkas et al. (2021) and Kevill et al. (2022b). A magnetic bead extraction was used due to the ease and reproducibility of the results as well as the ability of this method to be used for high-throughput samples in comparison to other methods available such as spin columns. The NucliSense magnetic extraction (BioMerieux) procedure developed by CEFAS is an ISO accredited method for shellfish virus recovery and have a long history of use for recovery of viruses from environmental samples (Le Guyader et al., 2009; Lees et al., 2012). The BioMerieux bead were also one of the kits recommended by the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention for sample preparation for COVID-19 RT-PCR testing (Ravi et al., 2020). The manual system is performed in 1.5 mL Eppendorf microcentrifuge tubes, with a magnetic rack used (BioMerieux SA, Marcy-l'Etoile, France), manual aspiration used to remove buffers and elute extracted sample. The Kingfisher 96 Flex System is an automated system that moves the magnetic beads (BioMerieux SA, Marcy-l'Etoile, France) via magnets between the various extraction buffers, the same Nuclisense kit was used for both manual and automated extractions. A 0.1 mL extraction volume is eluted from the automated system compared to a 1 mL one from the manual method.

2.3.3 Assessment of grab sampling compared to a passive sampling approach

To compare passive and grab sampling approaches, grab samples were collected at hourly intervals from the influent wastewater stream alongside the passive samples deployed for 24 h, over six days. Grab samples were concentrated by a PEG-based precipitation method as described in Farkas et al., (2021) and extracted using an automated Kingfisher 96 Flex system (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) system prior to quantification with qPCR (Kevill et al., 2022b). The grab samples were taken to allow for a comparison of baseline SARS-CoV-2 in the wastewater and enabled the assessment of SARS-CoV-2 accumulation on the tampon passive sample materials over time, tampons were used as the comparison due to the results found in section 2.7.2.

2.3.4 Passive Sample concentration and nucleic acid extraction

After tampons were identified as the passive sampler material that recovered the highest viral loads, three separate tampon types (Asda regular, Tampax Compak super and Tampax Pearl super) were used to assess the impact of tampon type and best method for the SARS-CoV-2 and crAssphage recovery.

Viruses were concentrated from passive samplers using one of seven methods. These methods were the squeeze method, Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) elution into polyethylene glycol and NaCl (PEG8000; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) precipitation, PBS elution into ammonium sulfate- precipitation, beef extract/glycine elution into PEG precipitation, beef extract/glycine elution into ammonium sulfate precipitation, no elution into PEG precipitation, direct extraction of 1 cm². Each of the seven methods were run using all three

different tampons, all run in triplicate. A negative processing control of deionised water was also included for each method.

2.3.4.1 Squeeze method

During the squeeze method each tampon was squeezed to remove all the absorbed wastewater into a sterile tube. A 500 μ L aliquot was taken for extraction and added to 2 mL of lysis buffer prior to a manual nucleic acid extraction.

2.3.4.2 Direct extraction method

The direct extraction method is the same as detailed in Section 2.3.2.

2.3.4.3 Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution into Polyethylene glycol (PEG) method

Passive samplers were saturated with 20 mL of PBS and hand massaged for 2 min in individual Ziploc[®] plastic bags (Bivins et al., 2021). The eluent and wastewater were then squeezed out of the sampler material and into a sterile tube and the pH of the supernatant was adjusted to 7.0 - 7.5, and then mixed with PEG to form a 10 % (w/vol) PEG8000 and 2 % (w/vol) NaCl solution, samples were inverted to mix. Samples were then left to incubate at 4 °C overnight. The samples were then centrifuged at ×10,000 g for 30 min, the supernatant decanted off and the viral pellets resuspended in 900 µL of lysis buffer, and manually extracted.

2.3.4.4 PBS elution into ammonium sulfate method

The passive samplers were saturated with 20 mL of PBS and hand massaged for 2 min in individual Ziploc[®] bags (Bivins et al., 2021). The eluent and wastewater were then squeezed out of the sampler material and into a sterile tube. c.a. 30 mL of sample and eluent added to 14 g of ammonium sulfate and dissolved. This was incubated at 4 °C for 1 h. The samples were then

centrifuged at \times 10,000 g for 30 min, the supernatant removed and the viral pellets resuspended in 900 µL of lysis buffer, and manually extracted.

2.3.4.5 Beef extract/Glycine elution into PEG method

Passive samplers were saturated, and hand massaged for 2 min in individual Ziploc[®] bags; with 20 mL of a beef extract/glycine solution with an adjusted pH of 9.5 (Lab Lemco beef extract (Oxoid, USA) and 2 M glycine to reach the final concentration of 3% and 0.5 M, respectively). The eluent and wastewater were then squeezed out of the sampler material into a sterile tube and the pH of the supernatant adjusted to 7.0 - 7.5, mixed with PEG to form a 10% PEG 8000 and 2 % NaCl solution, and the samples inverted to mix. Samples were then left to incubate at 4 °C overnight. The samples were then centrifuged at ×10,000 g for 30 min, the supernatant removed and the viral pellets resuspended in 900 μL of lysis buffer, and manually extracted.

2.3.4.6 Beef extract/Glycine elution into ammonium sulfate method

Passive samplers were saturated, and hand massaged for 2 min in individual Ziploc[®] bags; with 20 mL of a beef extract/glycine solution with an adjusted pH of 9.5 (Lab Lemco beef extract (Oxoid, USA) and 2 M glycine to reach the final concentration of 3% and 0.5 M, respectively). The eluent and wastewater were then squeezed out of the sampler material into a sterile tube. ca. 30 mL of sample and eluent was then added to 14 g of ammonium sulfate (to create a final molarity of 0.0035 M) and dissolved, incubated at 4°C for 1 h, centrifuged (×10,000 g, 30 min) and the supernatant discarded. The viral pellets were then resuspended in 900 µL of lysis buffer, and manually extracted.

2.3.4.7 No-elution into PEG

Each passive sample was placed into a Ziploc[®] bag and the wastewater squeezed out of each sample into ~20 mL of PEG (adjusted for varying sample amounts to form a 10 % (w/vol) PEG 8000 and 2 % (w/vol) NaCl solution), samples were then inverted to mix and left to incubate at 4 °C overnight. The samples were then centrifuged (×10,000 g, 30 min), the supernatant discarded and the viral pellets resuspended in 900 μ L of lysis buffer, and manually extracted.

A manual extraction method was used for all concentration methods as described in Section 2.3.2. Virus concentration methods, nucleic acid extractions, and q(RT-)PCR assay preparation were all carried out in separate laboratories conducted in class II microbiological safety cabinets to minimize contamination risks.

2.4 Q(RT-)PCR AND QPCR ANALYSIS

The q(RT)-PCR assays for SARS-CoV-2 N1 detection were carried out using an RNA Ultrasense One-step q(RT)-PCR system (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA, Cat. No. 11732927), in a Quant Studio Flex 6 (Applied Biosystems Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). Samples for all experiments were run on a MicroAmp Endura optical 384 well clear plate (Applied Biosystems Inc., Cat. No. 4483273), with a 20 µl reaction volume. The mastermix comprised RNA UltraSenseTM 5× Reaction Mix with ROX, 10 pmol forward, 20 pmol reverse primers and 5 pmol probe, RNA UltraSenseTM Enzyme Mix, 16 nmol MgSO₄, 1 µg bovine serum albumin (BSA), molecular grade water and 2 µl of extracted wastewater RNA/standard/control (Table S1). The primers and probes used are presented in the supplementary material. The settings for the q(RT)-PCR were: reverse transcription hold step at 55 °C (60 min), reverse transcriptase inactivation at 95 °C (5 min),

followed by 45 amplification cycles of 95 °C (15 s), 60 °C (1 min), 65 °C (1 min) at increments of 1.6 °C/s.

Detection of crAssphage with qPCR was performed using QuantiFast probe PCR with ROX mix (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany. Cat No. 204354). Samples were also run on with a 20 μ l reaction volume, on a 384 well clear plate, using Quant Studio Flex 6. The mastermix contained QuantiFast no Rox, QuantiFast with Rox with 10 pmol of forward, 10 pmol reverse primers and 5 pmol probe, 16 nmol MgSO₄, 1 μ g bovine serum albumin (BSA), molecular grade water and 4 μ L of extracted wastewater RNA/standard/control. Settings for the qPCR were 98 °C (5 min), followed by 40 cycles at 95 °C (15 s) and 60 °C (1 min) with increments of 1.6 °C/s.

PCR no-template controls (molecular grade water) were used to determine the absence of contamination during the process. Samples, standards and controls were all run in duplicate. The mean values for each extraction were used for further analysis. Only samples that yielded a Ct mean <40 were included in the quantitative analysis. Samples were assessed against an ssRNA N1 (Kevill et al., 2022b) or plasmid DNA CrAssphage (as described in Farkas et al., 2019) standard curve serial dilution series of the target gene ranging from 10⁵-10⁰ gc/μL. The N1 standard slope ranged from -3.01 to -3.31, the R² range was 0.990 to 0.998 and the efficiency (%) ranged from 100.4 to 114.8. The crAssphage target slope was -3.512, the R² was 0.998 and the efficiency (%) was 92.6. The N1 and crAssphage limit of detection (LOD) were determined previously by Farkas et al. (2021) and Farkas et al. (2019), respectively. 10 replicate dilutions of N1 and crAssphage low concentrated spiked wastewater samples were used. The LOD is defined as the minimum concentration where all replicates are positive, 1.7 gc/μL for the N1 gene and 2 gc/μL for the

crAssphage marker. Quantities can be detected below this level but are susceptible to false negatives.

2.5 DATA ANALYSIS AND VISUALISATION

QuantStudioTM Real-Time PCR Software, version 1.3 (Applied Biosystems, USA) was used to analyse the data. Manual adjustments to the baseline (cycle threshold; Ct) were made, when the standards needed alterations. The viral concentrations were expressed as genome copies (gc)/ μ L wastewater per qPCR reaction; these were then scaled for each experiment. For the extraction and three material comparison gc/cm² was used for viral load comparisons, while for the method and tampon type comparison this was scaled up to be representative of each tampon's recovery (gc/tampon). This was done so that all the results for the different experiments were comparable. Direct extractions were scaled up to be representative of each tampon. This was done by measuring the volume of each of the three specified tampons and scaling the 1 cm³ sections to each tampon volume (Supplementary Data).

2.6 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistical analyses and data visualisation was performed in RStudio v1.4.1717 (R Core Team, 2020; Wickham, 2016), using the packages "dplyr" for data manipulation, "ggplot2", "ggbeeswarm", "patchwork" for data visualisation. Data was tested for normality using Sharipo-Wilk test, and Levene test for homogeneity of variance. The experimental datasets were not-normally distributed; thus, non-parametric tests were performed.

The comparison for manual vs automatic extractions determined and undetermined were done using a Pearson's Chi-squared test with a simulated p-value, based on 2000 replicates. The

median gene recovery comparisons were computed with a Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction.

Once manual extraction was identified as the preferred RNA recovery extraction method, results from automated extractions were removed from the dataset and only manually extract samples were analysed from here onwards. To statistically compare the viral recoveries from each sampler material a Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test was used, a Pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction was then used to determine which material was significantly different to the others, a Holm-Bonferroni adjustment method was used. A Pearson's Chisquared test with simulated p-value (based on 2000 replicates), was used to establish differences between the determined and undetermined samples according to each material.

Comparison of viral recovery between the seven methods were carried out using a Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test, followed by pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum tests to compare each method against another for further investigation.

2.7 Results

2.7.1 Viral RNA Extraction comparison of manual vs. automatic

After collection, all three types of passive samples were extracted both manually and using an automated a Kingfisher 96 Flex system (summary results in Table S1). Manual extractions had significantly fewer undetermined results when detecting SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene (Pearson's Chisquared test with simulated p-value (based on 2000 replicates): X-squared = 9.52, p-value < 0.01; Figure 1b). Median N1 gene recoveries were significantly higher for the manual extraction (Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction: W = 298, p-value < 0.05; Figure 1a).

Furthermore, median crAssphage gene recoveries were significantly greater using a manual extraction (Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction: W = 139, p-value < 0.001; Figure 1c); however, both methods positively identified crAssphage in all samples (Figure 1d). These results indicate manual extractions are likely to increase gene recovery and reduce the number of undetermined results when viral load is low.



Figure 1: Comparison of gene recovery and undetermined results between manual and automated extractions. (a) SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene recovery (gc/cm²) between extraction methods. (b) SARS-CoV-2 N1 positive and undetermined samples between extraction methods. (c) crAssphage gene

recovery (gc/cm²) between extraction methods. (d) crAssphage positive and undetermined samples between extraction methods.

2.7.2 Effect of passive sample material on the comparison for viral recovery

After identifying manual extraction as the preferred RNA recovery method, results from automated extractions were removed from the dataset and only manually extract samples were analysed from here onwards. Passive samples were constructed with three materials (Artibetter medical grade non-woven gauze cotton swab (Barrett et al., 1980), SG81 ion exchange paper, and tampax compak super) before identical assessment (summary results in Table S2). Median SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene recoveries differed between materials used to construct the passive samplers (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 10.19, df = 2, p-value < 0.01; Figure 2a), and pairwise comparisons found tampax to have significantly greater recovery compared to both cotton (Artibetter cotton swab) and paper (SG81 ion exchange paper) (Pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction: Tampax ~ Cotton swab: p-value < 0.05; Tampax ~ Paper: p-value < 0.05 (Holm-Bonferroni (H-B) adjustment method)). The frequency of negatives could not be assumed different for any materials (Pearson's Chi-squared test with simulated p-value (based on 2000 replicates): X-squared = 5.75, p-value > 0.05; Figure 2b). Similarly, median crAssphage gene recoveries did vary between the three materials (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 8.02, df = 2, p-value < 0.05; Figure 2c), pairwise comparisons found only tampax and paper to be significantly different (Pairwise Wilcoxon rank

sum test with continuity correction: Tampax ~ Paper: p-value < 0.05 (H-B adjustment method)).



All materials positively identified crAssphage in all but one cotton swab sample (Figure 2d).

Figure 2: Comparison of gene recovery and undetermined results between passive sampler material. (a) SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene recovery between sample material. (b) SARS-CoV-2 N1 positive and undetermined samples between sampler material. (c) crAssphage gene recovery between sampler material. (d) crAssphage positive and undetermined samples between sampler material

2.7.3 Comparison of crAssphage and N1 gc recovered from grab samples and passive samplers

Grab samples, with a concentration step, recovered more genome copies per reaction compared to passive samples (Figure 3). Viral copies of the grab samples were in the range of 179 – 73,773 and 1.96 – 330 gc/L for crAssphage and SARS-CoV-2 N1, respectively. This can be compared to the passive samples which ranged from 203 - 12,556 and 0.15 – 16.39 gc/L for crAssphage and SARS-CoV-2 N1, respectively.

Furthermore, the number of crAssphage and SARS-CoV-2 N1 positives varied between sampling type, as grab samples has 82 % and 93% positives for crAssphage and SARS-CoV-2 N1, respectively, compared to passive samples which were 98% and 86% positive. This indicated that that passive samplers were more reliable at detecting crAssphage, however they captured a much lower variability. Overall passive samples had lower variability over time compared to grab samples (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Comparison between autosampler and passive sample results. Autosampler results are plotted as hourly grab samples. Passive samples are plotted as the final composite retrieved after 24 hours exposure. Undetermined results are plotted as transparent points with zero gene copies per reaction.

2.7.4 Comparison of viral recovery concentration methods for passive samples

There were differences found between the seven concentration methods and their viral median recoveries. For this dataset, all tampon types were analysed under the 'tampon' banner head. The SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene recovery differed the most between methods used (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 64.139, df = 6, p-value < 0.001; Figure 4), Wilcoxon pairwise comparisons found that over half of the methods were significantly different (Figure 4). No-elution in PEG had the highest SARS-CoV-2 N1 recovery mean (1483 gc/tampon), the second highest mean recovery was PBS elution in PEG (1224 gc/tampon). These two methods are significantly (p < 0.001, Figure 4) different from each other, even though the ranges overlap. Overall, the no-elution with PEG precipitation method recovered the most SARS-CoV-2 RNA.

Similarly, crAssphage median recoveries differed between method used (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 31.946, df = 6, p-value < 0.001; Figure 4). A Wilcoxon pairwise comparison found that over half of the methods were significantly different (Figure 4). As for SARS-CoV-2, no elution with PEG precipitation proved the best method for crAssphage recovery (mean, 1580616 gc/tampon), while the Direct extraction method had the next highest mean recovery (mean, 1267332 gc/tampon).



Figure 4: Comparison of gene recoveries per tampon between processing methods, carried out on passive samplers suspended in an influent wastewater stream for 1 h. Panel (a) compares concentration methods for the SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene, panel (b) compares concentration methods for the bacteriophage crAssphage, while panel (c) and (d) show p-values (*p*-value: < 0.001 [***]; < 0.01 [**]; < 0.05 [*]; > 0.05 [.]) of Wilcoxon pairwise comparisons of the processing methods for SARS-CoV-2 N1 and crAssphage, respectively.

2.7.5 Comparison of viral recovery from different tampon types

SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene median recoveries were not significantly different between tampon types (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 7.22, df = 2, p-value > 0.05; Figure 5). Pairwise Wilcoxon test showed that no tampon type was significantly different from another (Figure 5). CrAssphage median recoveries differed between tampon types (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test: Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 11.72, df = 2, p-value < 0.005; Figure 5). A pairwise Wilcoxon test found that Asda tampons are significantly (p < 0.05) different to Tampax's Pearl and Compact (Figure 5). These results show that Asda tampons have a lower crAssphage gene recovery compared to the branded tampons.



Figure 5: Comparison of gene recoveries per tampon between different tampons, carried out on samplers suspended in an influent tank for one hour. Panel 'a' compares concentration methods for the SARS-CoV-2 N1 gene, panel 'b' compares concentration methods for the bacteriophage crAssphage, while panel 'c' and 'd' show p-values (*p*-value: < 0.001 [***]; < 0.01 [**]; < 0.05 [*]; > 0.05 [.]) of Wilcoxon pairwise comparisons of the processing methods for SARS-CoV-2 N1 and crAssphage, respectively.

2.8 DISCUSSION

2.8.1 SARS-CoV-2 detection in wastewater

Even with the advancements and implementation of passive sampling in WBE for SARS-CoV-2 since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is still a lot of uncertainty surrounding the optimal methodology, including sampler type, concentration methods and quantification (Bivins et al., 2021; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Habtewold et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Schang et al., 2021). Previously, a few studies have examined sections of the whole process, but none fully investigated the whole process, or multiple sections. This study investigated the effectiveness of passive sampling for SARS-CoV-2 detection, in which we compared different sampler materials (n=3), extraction (n=2) and concentration (n=7) methods for passive sampling to optimise the detection of SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater. Previous studies have commented on the processing methods for SARS-CoV-2 recovery being imperative to the amount of viral recovery (Vincent-Hubert et al., 2021). This novel study is the first of its kind to compare passive sampler material, sample processing method for viral recovery and the nucleic acid extraction method with an aim
to improve methodology with the aim of developing a standardised protocol for the effective use of passive sampling for monitoring of SARS-CoV-2 within a WBE context.

2.8.2 Manual extractions compared to automatic extractions

Our first experiment evidenced that in the case of passive sampling, manual extractions yielded a higher gene recovery in comparison to the automated system adopted in many high throughout laboratories. These extractions recovered significantly more gene copies for both SARS-CoV-2 N1 and crAssphage, indicating that this extraction method would increase gene recovery overall for passive sampling. These results signify that manual extractions reduce the number of undetermined results when the viral load is low. Both manual and automatic extractions use the same reagents and volumes. One reason for the higher extraction yield could be the larger volume of concentrated sample that is extracted within the manual extraction (1.5 ml) meaning that the inhibitors are more diluted through the process as well as there being a higher volume for virus to be concentrated from. Another reason could be that manual extractions allow for more precise washing reagent removal. This is because the magnets are on the side of the Eppendorf microcentrifuge tubes, instead of the base like with automatic extractions, meaning that when the beads are magnetized they move laterally creating a space in the base of the tube. This equates to a higher removal of washing reagents in the washing step as you can visibly see the liquid being removed. The volume of reagents being removed and will be slightly different for each sample, which can be detected manually where as with an automated system the same volume is removed each time. This is especially relevant when passive samples release fibres which attach to the beads in the extraction process meaning these

can be removed during extraction whereas the automatic system cannot catch these minor changes in processing.

These results coupled with passive samplers' accumulation of virus over time concentrating low viral loads, means that passive sampling is an optimum method for use of viral monitoring in areas with low viral prevalence, such as a specified building or community (Bivins et al., 2021, Schang et al., 2021). Examples of these include prisons, healthcare facilities such as hospitals or high-density housing areas, i.e., a housing estate. This is because unlike liquid samples, the passive sampler materials will adsorb as much virus as able until the viral saturation point is reached, meaning that a higher level of virus could be eluted compared to the liquid samples. Going forward, there could be options to extend passive sampling to detect outbreaks or areas where case rates begin to increase from low case rates or vice versa, it can also be applied to other human pathogens (Kevill et al., 2022a). Other human enteric pathogens that could be detected are sexually transmitted diseases such as hepatitis C, or other respiratory viruses (i.e. influenza). Passive sampling as a method could also be optimized for the detection and quantification of infection causing bacteria like the original use of the method (Moore et al., 1952).

2.8.1 Comparison of grab samples and passive samples viral recovery

Although multiple proof of concept studies have been conducted, they failed to compare passive sampling with liquid sampling as a whole. We compared grab sampling as a method against passive sampling. When compared passive samples with grab samples there was a greater variability in-between the grab samples compared to the passive samplers. This variability shows that passive samplers can be used in environments where the viral load is lower. As grab

samples are 'point in time' samples, variability in viral presence and absence as well as viral load is one limitation of their use and using a passive sampler suspended for 1 hour may provide more opportunity to detect pathogens of human health concerns in wastewater. Passive sampling may avoid undetermined results still seen in concentrated grab samples, even though grab recover higher gc/reaction, the passive samplers have lower variability in this study. This indicates an improved sensitivity when detecting SARS-CoV-2 as previously supported by other work (Liu *et al.* 2022).

2.8.2 Identification of the optimum passive sampler material

Overall, our study showed that cotton-based tampons are the best material to use for passive sampling in wastewater. Tampons yielded a higher viral recovery of SARS-CoV-2 when compared to ion exchange paper and cotton swabs. Our results indicate that Tampax will likely have improved recoveries over cotton swabs and ion exchange paper when viral loads are low. Previous work has commented on viral adsorption onto materials being driven by electrostatic, hydrophobic and van der Waals interactions primarily (Castaño et al., 2020). The contribution of these forces are tempered by the surrounding environment namely pH (Castaño et al., 2020, Vega et al., 2008), as this work was all conducted within the same influent WWT system it is assumed that pH and other environmental factors are relatively stable, thus viral interactions are largely reliant on the materials. All three materials (Cotton swabs, SG81 ion exchange paper and Tampax super compak) have electronegative charges. However, between tampons and cotton the main compositional difference is the rayon content in tampons, rayon is a semi-synthetic cellulosic fibre. It has been assumed that at wastewater pH levels (7-8), SARS-CoV-2 and its free

RNA will mainly be negatively charged. This implies that electropositive membranes should be tested in the future.

2.8.3 Comparison of passive sampler concentration methods

The no elution in PEG concentration method had the highest gene recovery mean for both SARS-CoV-2 N1 and crAssphage genes, suggesting that this method is the most effective at SARS-CoV-2 recovery from the sample, with the normalization of the human population of each catchment area using crAssphage as an indicator (Figure 5). The PEG precipitation method works on the reduction of solubility of proteins in the solution, which precipitates out viral matter from the solution (Machado-Moreira et al., 2020); this implies that the release of the wastewater liquid from the tampons is the most important factor to the levels of virus recovered. This implies that the physical entrapment may be more important than the bonds between the virus and the materials by differing chemical interactions, this is a statement that has previously been hypothesized previously (Brown et al., 2021)

Comparisons between our data and those already published are difficult due to the vast differences in methods (both processing and conditions in which the studies took place) for viral recovery (Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Habtewold et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2022; Schang et al., 2021). Previous studies have eluted virus from cotton gauze based passive samplers (Habtewold et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2022; Rafiee et al., 2021; Schang et al., 2022), whereas electronegative filters and certain membranes (nylon etc) have used more direct extraction methods for viral detection (Hayes et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022). Hayes et al. (2021), found that elution methods yielded higher concentrations of viral recovery compared to direct

methods on certain passive sampler materials (cheesecloth and electronegative filters). This conclusion contradicts our results for elution methods, bar the no elution in PEG method. However, Hayes et al. (2021) performed a laboratory-based study that did not stimulate field conditions fully, the lack of a high flowing stream of water would mean that the materials would be more likely to hold together. Our study also used different elution buffers creating the need for further work within the method development to further optimise the elution step from various materials. Because PBS was used on the basis that it has been shown to reduce PCR inhibition in comparison to other elution buffers with a phosphate base, which is a known issue within wastewater based qPCR (McMinn et al., 2012). Phosphate also desorbs negatively charged viruses and free RNA from the surfaces of materials meaning it is an optimum solution to use for passive sampling.

The main limitation with the direct extraction method is the fact that the data needs to be scaled up from 1 cm² to a whole tampon size. For this method, usually only the end of the tampon is cut, if this end is submerged in the influent stream for longer this would affect recovery rates. Therefore, more work needs to be done comparing direct extractions with other methods using the same amount of material per method.

Overall, the use of a PEG-based method creates a multi-use of both passive and liquid wastewater testing for large scale testing. Although the whole processing time is lengthy in comparison to other methods tested here the actual bench time is still relatively short in comparison to other methods. For instance, the Beef Extraction methods contain the costly timeconsuming process to adjust the pH of samples multiple times, and the direct extraction

introduces a larger variability in the reliability of the data produce due to the scaling of results

and the precision required to cut the sampler in the first place (Table 1).

 Table 1: Summary of the overall performance and ranking of the seven different passive sampler concentration methods.

Scoring criteria	Direct	Squeeze	PBS in	PBS in	Beef in	Beef in	No
	extraction		PEG	ammonium	PEG	ammonium	elution
				sulfate		sulfate	in PEG
Viral							
capture/recovery							
Ease of use							
Processing time							
Cost							
Overall score	17	16	16	15	11	8	17
Ranking	=2	=4	=4	5	6	7	=2

Score	
1	Low
2	
3	Medium
4	
5	High

2.8.4 Further comparisons between passive sampler materials

Furthermore, when specified brands of tampons were compared, we found that Tampax super compak and pearl tampons recover more viral RNA than ASDA own brand tampons tested, however, there was no statistical significance between them for SARS-CoV-2, however crAssphage recovery was significantly difference between ASDA and the leading brands. There is little evidence as to whether this is solely based on a larger size. More work is needed to investigate if this is because the materials have a difference in charge or because of differences in material composition. These results could vary greatly due to differing materials presenting

different levels of viral and material interactions (electrostatic, hydrophobic and van der Waals) (Castaño et al., 2020).

2.9 LIMITATIONS OF PASSIVE SAMPLING WITHIN WBE

Near-source WBE monitoring of pathogens, such as passive sampling, has a range of useful applications, however, one potential limitation is the high incidence of ragging during near-source monitoring. However, as this work used short deployment times (1 h) and mesh cages to protect the samplers, reducing the propensity for ragging. More work is therefore needed looking at minimizing ragging issues over longer deployment times, especially at near source locations. High ragging rates reduce the interactions between wastewater viruses and the material of passive samplers (Schang et al., 2021).

Another limitation to passive sampling is the difficulties in quantifying the infection rates of SARS-CoV-2 in an area because the total volume of wastewater flowing through and past the sampler is unknown. Work by Corchis-Schott et al. (2021), calculated the SARS-CoV-2 concentration based on a ratio of target virus to the faecal indicator PMMoV, much like our data utilises crAssphage, with the flow rate, wet faecal mass and the clinical case data for the number of infected people contributing to that community (Corchis-Scott et al., 2021). However, the overarching purpose of wastewater is to complement clinical data, so the use of this statistic in the method defeats the purpose. This only further demonstrates the difficulties faced within determining the quantity of infected people within the given area. Furthermore, it has not been noted within these calculations that previous work has denoted infection severity to be unrelated to faecal shedding rates (Gerrity et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2020).

2.10 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Table S1: Primers and probes used for viral detection with qPCR within this study.

Target	Reference	Primers and	Primer and probe sequence (5'-3')	Target sequence (5'-3')
		probe name		
SARS-CoV-2	(Centers for	N1-Forward	GACCCCAAAATCAGCGAAAT	GTGAAATGGTCATGTGTGGCGGTTCACT
	Disease Control	N1-Reverse	TCTGGTTACTGCCAGTTGAATCTG	ATATGTTAA
	and Prevention,	N1-Probe	ACCCCGCATTACGTTTGGTGGACC	ACCAGGTGGAACCTCATC
	2020)			AGGAGATGCCACAACTGCTTATGCTAATA
				GTGTTTTTAA
				CATTTG
CrAssphage	(Stachler et al.,	CrAss-	CAGAAGTACAAACTCCTAAAAAACGTAGAG	CAGAAGTACAAACTCCTAAAAAACGTAG
	2017)	Forward		AGGTAGAGGTATTAATAACGATTTACGT
		CrAss-	GATGACCAATAAACAAGCCATTAGC	GATGTAACTCGTAAAAAGTTTGATGAAC
		Reverse		GTACTGATTGTAATAAAGCTAATGGCTTG
		CrAss-Probe	AATAACGATTTACGTGATGTAAC	TTTATTGGTC

Tampon	Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Water Holding	
			Capacity (ml)	
ASDA own	6	3.5	32.8	
brand Regular				
Tampax	6.2	3.6	34.2	
Compact Super				
Tampax Pearl	5	6	33.1	
Super				

Table S2: Tampon sizes used for scaling direct extractions.

Table S3: Summary statistics for passive sample extraction method (Figure 2).

Target	Extraction	Mean (gc/l)	Median (gc/l)	positive	undetermined
SARS-CoV-2 N1	Auto	88.1	0.0	6	24
SARS-CoV-2 N1	Manual	201.0	68.1	17	13
crAssphage	Auto	172642	42912	30	0
crAssphage	Manual	1007677	638202	30	0

		Mean	Median		
Target	Material	(gc/l)	(gc/l)	positive	undetermined
SARS-CoV-2 N1	Cotton swab	197.2	97.0	18	9
SARS-CoV-2 N1	Paper	262.8	159	10	2
SARS-CoV-2 N1	Tampax	501	368	20	7
crAssphage	Cotton swab	601510	473741	26	1
crAssphage	Ion exchange	337814	214332	12	0
	paper				
crAssphage	Tampax	1059697	741626	27	0

Table S4: Summary statistics for passive sample material.



Figure S1: Comparison of number of tampons that recovered positive and undetermined results for





Figure S2: Comparison of number of tampons that recovered positive and undetermined results for each of the three different tampon types.

2.11 FUNDING

This work was supported by UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) under the COVID-19 Rapid

Response Programme (projects NE/V004883/1 and NE/V010441/1) and the Centre for

Environmental Biotechnology Project funded though the European Regional Development Fund

(ERDF) by Welsh Government.

2.12 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We particularly thank Tony Harrington at Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water alongside staff at the Chester

and Bangor wastewater treatment facilities for their support in this project.

2.13 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

All authors declare no competing interests.

2.14 REFERENCES:

- Adamczyk, Z., Batys, P., Barbasz, J., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 virion physicochemical characteristics pertinent to abiotic substrate attachment. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 55, 101466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cocis.2021.101466
- Ahmed, W., Bivins, A., Bertsch, P.M., Bibby, K., Choi, P.M., Farkas, K., Gyawali, P., Hamilton, K.A., Haramoto, E., Kitajima, M., Simpson, S.L., Tandukar, S., Thomas, K.V., Mueller, J.F., 2020.
 Surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater: Methods optimization and quality control are crucial for generating reliable public health information. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health, Environmental Health: COVID-19 17, 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2020.09.003
- Barrett, T.J., Blake, P.A., Morris, G.K., Puhr, N.D., Bradford, H.B., Wells, J.G., 1980. Use of Moore swabs for isolating Vibrio cholerae from sewage. J. Clin. Microbiol. 11, 385–388.
- Bivins, A., Lott, M., Shaffer, M., Wu, Z., North, D., Lipp, E., Bibby, K., 2021. Building-Level Wastewater Monitoring for COVID-19 Using Tampon Swabs and RT-LAMP for Rapid SARS-Cov-2 RNA Detection. https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202105.0381.v1
- Blanco, A., Abid, I., Al-Otaibi, N., Pérez-Rodríguez, F.J., Fuentes, C., Guix, S., Pintó, R.M., Bosch,
 A., 2019. Glass Wool Concentration Optimization for the Detection of Enveloped and Nonenveloped Waterborne Viruses. Food Environ. Virol. 11, 184–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-019-09378-0
- Brown, E., Nelson, N., Gubbins, S., Colenutt, C., 2021. Environmental and air sampling are efficient methods for the detection and quantification of foot-and-mouth disease virus. J. Virol. Methods 287, 113988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2020.113988
- Castaño, N., Cordts, S., Jalil, M.K., Zhang, K., Koppaka, S., Paul, R., Tang, S.K., 2020. Fomite transmission and disinfection strategies for SARS-CoV-2 and related viruses 40.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020. Real-time RT-PCR Primers and Probes for COVID-19 [WWW Document]. Cent. Dis. Control Prev. URL

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/lab/rt-pcr-panel-primer-probes.html (accessed 1.28.22).

- Cheung, K.S., Hung, I.F.N., Chan, P.P.Y., Lung, K.C., Tso, E., Liu, R., Ng, Y.Y., Chu, M.Y., Chung, T.W.H., Tam, A.R., Yip, C.C.Y., Leung, K.-H., Fung, A.Y.-F., Zhang, R.R., Lin, Y., Cheng, H.M., Zhang, A.J.X., To, K.K.W., Chan, K.-H., Yuen, K.-Y., Leung, W.K., 2020. Gastrointestinal Manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Virus Load in Fecal Samples From a Hong Kong Cohort: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 159, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.03.065
- Corchis-Scott, R., Geng, Q., Seth, R., Ray, R., Beg, M., Biswas, N., Charron, L., Drouillard, K.D., D'Souza, R., Heath, D.D., Houser, C., Lawal, F., McGinlay, J., Menard, S.L., Porter, L.A., Rawlings, D., Scholl, M.L., Siu, K.W.M., Tong, Y., Weisener, C.G., Wilhelm, S.W., McKay, R.M.L., 2021. Averting an Outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 in a University Residence Hall through Wastewater Surveillance. Microbiol. Spectr. 9, e00792-21. https://doi.org/10.1128/Spectrum.00792-21
- Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey, characteristics of people testing positive for COVID-19, UK - Office for National Statistics [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditio nsanddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveycharacteristicsofpeopletesti ngpositiveforcovid19uk/19january2022 (accessed 4.26.22).
- Draper, D.E., 2004. A guide to ions and RNA structure. RNA 10, 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.5205404
- Farkas, K., Adriaenssens, E.M., Walker, D.I., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones, D.L., 2019. Critical Evaluation of CrAssphage as a Molecular Marker for Human-Derived Wastewater Contamination in the Aquatic Environment. Food Environ. Virol. 11, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-019-09369-1
- Farkas, K., Hillary, L.S., Thorpe, J., Walker, D.I., Lowther, J.A., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones,
 D.L., 2021. Concentration and Quantification of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in Wastewater Using
 Polyethylene Glycol-Based Concentration and qRT-PCR. Methods Protoc. 4, 17.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/mps4010017
- Gerrity, D., Papp, K., Stoker, M., Sims, A., Frehner, W., 2021. Early-pandemic wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 in Southern Nevada: Methodology, occurrence, and

incidence/prevalence considerations. Water Res. X 10, 100086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2020.100086

- Habtewold, J., McCarthy, D., McBean, E., Law, I., Goodridge, L., Habash, M., Murphy, H.M., 2022.
 Passive sampling, a practical method for wastewater-based surveillance of SARS-CoV-2.
 Environ. Res. 204, 112058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112058
- Hayes, E.K., Sweeney, C.L., Anderson, L.E., Li, B., Erjavec, G.B., Gouthro, M.T., Krkosek, W.H., Stoddart, A.K., Gagnon, G.A., 2021. A novel passive sampling approach for SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater in a Canadian province with low prevalence of COVID-19. Environ. Sci. Water Res. Technol. 7, 1576–1586. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1EW00207D
- Jones, D.L., Grimsley, J.M.S., Kevill, J.L., Williams, R., Pellett, C., Lambert-Slosarska. K., Singer, A.C., Williams, G.B., Bargiela, R., Brown, R.W., Wade, M.J., Farkas. K., (2022) Critical evaluation of different passive sampler materials and approaches for the recovery of SARS-CoV-2, faecal-indicator viruses and bacteria from wastewater. Water. Paper submitted
- Kevill, J.L., Lambert-Slosarska, K., Pellett, C., Woodhall, N., Richardson-O'Neill, I., Pântea, I., Alex-Sanders, N., Farkas, K., Jones, D.L., 2022a. Assessment of two types of passive sampler for the efficient recovery of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater. Sci. Total Environ. 838, 156580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156580
- Kevill, J.L., Pellett, C., Farkas, K., Brown, M.R., Bassano, I., Denise, H., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Porter, J., Warren, J., Evens, N.P., Paterson, S., Singer, A.C., Jones, D.L., 2022b. A comparison of precipitation and filtration-based SARS-CoV-2 recovery methods and the influence of temperature, turbidity, and surfactant load in urban wastewater. Sci. Total Environ. 808, 151916. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151916
- Kumblathan, T., Liu, Y., Uppal, G.K., Hrudey, S.E., Li, X.-F., 2021. Wastewater-Based Epidemiology for Community Monitoring of SARS-CoV-2: Progress and Challenges. ACS Environ. Au 1, 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsenvironau.1c00015
- Langeveld, J., Schilperoort, R., Heijnen, L., Elsinga, G., Schapendonk, C.E.M., Fanoy, E., Schepper,
 E.I.T. de, Koopmans, M.P.G., Graaf, M. de, Medema, G., 2021. Normalisation of SARS-CoV2 concentrations in wastewater: the use of flow, conductivity and CrAssphage.
 https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.30.21266889

- Lees, D.N., CENWG6 TAG4 2010. International standardisation of a method for detection of human pathogenic viruses in molluscan shellfish. Food Environ. Virol. 2, 146–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-010-9042-5
- Le Guyader, F. S., Parnaudeau, S., Schaeffer, J., Bosch, A., Loisy, F., Pommepuy, M., & Atmar, R. L., 2009. Detection and quantification of noroviruses in shellfish. AEM. 75(3), 618–624. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01507-08
- Li, J., Verhagen, R., Ahmed, W., Metcalfe, S., Thai, P.K., Kaserzon, S.L., Smith, W.J.M., Schang, C., Simpson, S.L., Thomas, K.V., Mueller, J.F., Mccarthy, D., 2022. In Situ Calibration of Passive Samplers for Viruses in Wastewater. ACS EST Water. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsestwater.1c00406
- Liu, P., Ibaraki, M., VanTassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Guo, L., Moe, C.L., 2022. A sensitive, simple, and low-cost method for COVID-19 wastewater surveillance at an institutional level. Sci. Total Environ. 807, 151047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151047
- Liu, P., Ibaraki, M., VanTassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Moe, C., 2020. A Novel COVID-19 Early Warning Tool: Moore Swab Method for Wastewater Surveillance at an Institutional Level. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.01.20238006
- Machado-Moreira, B., Monteiro, S., Santos, R., Martinez-Murcia, A., Rajkovic, A., Smigic, N., Richards, K.G., Abram, F., Burgess, C.M., 2020. Impact of beef extract used for sample concentration on the detection of Escherichia coli DNA in water samples via qPCR. J. Microbiol. Methods 168, 105786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2019.105786
- McMinn, B.R., Cashdollar, J.L., Grimm, A.C., Fout, G.S., 2012. Evaluation of the celite secondary concentration procedure and an alternate elution buffer for the recovery of enteric adenoviruses 40 and 41. J. Virol. Methods 179, 423–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.11.017
- Moore, B., Perry, Col.E.L., Chard, S.T., 1952. A Survey by the sewage swab method of latent enteric infection in an urban area. J. Hyg. (Lond.) 50, 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022172400019501

Qian, Q., Fan, L., Liu, W., Li, J., Yue, J., Wang, M., Ke, X., Yin, Y., Chen, Q., Jiang, C., 2021. Direct Evidence of Active SARS-CoV-2 Replication in the Intestine. Clin. Infect. Dis. 73, 361–366. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa925

R Core Team, 2020. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.

- Rafiee, M., Isazadeh, S., Mohseni-Bandpei, A., Mohebbi, S.R., Jahangiri-rad, M., Eslami, A., Dabiri,
 H., Roostaei, K., Tanhaei, M., Amereh, F., 2021. Moore swab performs equal to composite
 and outperforms grab sampling for SARS-CoV-2 monitoring in wastewater. Sci. Total
 Environ. 790, 148205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148205
- Ravi N., Cortade D.L., Ng E., Wang S.X. 2020. Diagnostics for SARS-CoV-2 detection: A comprehensive review of the FDA-EUA COVID-19 testing landscape. Biosens. Bioelectron. 165. 112454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112454
- Robotto, A., Quaglino, P., Lembo, D., Morello, M., Brizio, E., Bardi, L., Civra, A., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 and indoor/outdoor air samples: a methodological approach to have consistent and comparable results. Environ. Res. 195, 110847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110847
- Rzeżutka, A., Carducci, A., 2013. 4 Sampling strategies for virus detection in foods, food-processing environments, water and air, in: Cook, N. (Ed.), Viruses in Food and Water, Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition. Woodhead Publishing, pp. 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857098870.2.79
- Sbodio, A., Maeda, S., Lopez-Velasco, G., Suslow, T.V., 2013. Modified Moore swab optimization and validation in capturing E. coli O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica in large volume field samples of irrigation water. Food Res. Int. 51, 654–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2013.01.011
- Schang, C., Crosbie, N.D., Nolan, M., Poon, R., Wang, M., Jex, A., John, N., Baker, L., Scales, P.,
 Schmidt, J., Thorley, B.R., Hill, K., Zamyadi, A., Tseng, C.-W., Henry, R., Kolotelo, P.,
 Langeveld, J., Schilperoort, R., Shi, B., Einsiedel, S., Thomas, M., Black, J., Wilson, S.,
 McCarthy, D.T., 2021. Passive Sampling of SARS-CoV-2 for Wastewater Surveillance.
 Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 10432–10441. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c01530

- Scheller, C., Krebs, F., Minkner, R., Astner, I., Gil-Moles, M., Wätzig, H., 2020. Physicochemical properties of SARS-CoV-2 for drug targeting, virus inactivation and attenuation, vaccine formulation and quality control. ELECTROPHORESIS 41, 1137–1151. https://doi.org/10.1002/elps.202000121
- Sikorski, M.J., Levine, M.M., 2020. Reviving the "Moore Swab": a Classic Environmental Surveillance Tool Involving Filtration of Flowing Surface Water and Sewage Water To Recover Typhoidal Salmonella Bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00060-20
- Stachler, E., Kelty, C., Sivaganesan, M., Li, X., Bibby, K., Shanks, O.C., 2017. Quantitative CrAssphage PCR Assays for Human Fecal Pollution Measurement. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 9146–9154. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b02703
- VEGA, E., GARLAND, J., PILLAI, S.D., 2008. Electrostatic Forces Control Nonspecific Virus Attachment to Lettuce. J. Food Prot. 71, 522–529. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-71.3.522
- Verreault, D., Moineau, S., Duchaine, C., 2008. Methods for Sampling of Airborne Viruses. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 72, 413–444. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00002-08
- Vincent-Hubert, F., Wacrenier, C., Morga, B., Lozach, S., Quenot, E., Mège, M., Lecadet, C., Gourmelon, M., Hervio-Heath, D., Le Guyader, F.S., 2021. Passive Samplers, a Powerful Tool to Detect Viruses and Bacteria in Marine Coastal Areas. Front. Microbiol. 12, 333. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.631174
- Wade, M.J., Lo Jacomo, A., Armenise, E., Brown, M.R., Bunce, J.T., Cameron, G.J., Fang, Z., Farkas,
 K., Gilpin, D.F., Graham, D.W., Grimsley, J.M.S., Hart, A., Hoffmann, T., Jackson, K.J., Jones,
 D.L., Lilley, C.J., McGrath, J.W., McKinley, J.M., McSparron, C., Nejad, B.F., Morvan, M.,
 Quintela-Baluja, M., Roberts, A.M.I., Singer, A.C., Souque, C., Speight, V.L., Sweetapple,
 C., Walker, D., Watts, G., Weightman, A., Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., 2022. Understanding and
 managing uncertainty and variability for wastewater monitoring beyond the pandemic:
 Lessons learned from the United Kingdom national COVID-19 surveillance programmes.
 J. Hazard. Mater. 424, 127456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.127456

 Wang, X., Zheng, J., Guo, L., Yao, H., Wang, L., Xia, X., Zhang, W., 2020. Fecal viral shedding in COVID-19 patients: Clinical significance, viral load dynamics and survival analysis. Virus Res. 289, 198147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198147

Wickham, H., 2016. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York.

- Zheng, S., Fan, J., Yu, F., Feng, B., Lou, B., Zou, Q., Xie, G., Lin, S., Wang, R., Yang, X., Chen, W., Wang, Q., Zhang, D., Liu, Y., Gong, R., Ma, Z., Lu, S., Xiao, Y., Gu, Y., Zhang, J., Yao, H., Xu, K., Lu, X., Wei, G., Zhou, J., Fang, Q., Cai, H., Qiu, Y., Sheng, J., Chen, Y., Liang, T., 2020. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 369, m1443. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1443
- Zou, Y., Mason, M.G., Wang, Y., Wee, E., Turni, C., Blackall, P.J., Trau, M., Botella, J.R., 2017.
 Nucleic acid purification from plants, animals and microbes in under 30 seconds. PLOS
 Biol. 15, e2003916. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2003916

Chapter 3: Assessment of two types of passive sample for the efficient recovery of SARS-CoV2 and other viruses from wastewater.

(Paper published – Science of Total Environment)

Authorship declaration statement:

Conceptualisation; KF, JLK. Laboratory work led by KLS supported by NW, IRO, IP, NAS. Data analysis and curation; CP, KLS, JLK. First manuscript draft; JLK, KLS, CP. Final suggested edits; KF, DLJ.

3. Assessment of two types of passive sampler for the efficient recovery of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses from wastewater

Jessica L. Kevill¹⁺, Kathryn Lambert-Slosarska¹⁺, Cameron Pellett¹, Nick Woodhall¹, India

Richardson-O'Neill, Igor Pantea, Natasha Alex-Sanders, Kata Farkas^{1,2}, and Davey L. Jones^{1,3}

¹ Centre for Environmental Biotechnology, School of Natural Sciences, Bangor University,

Bangor, Gwynedd LL57 2UW, UK

² School of Ocean Sciences, Bangor University, Menai Bridge, Anglesey LL59 5AB, UK

³ Food Futures Institute, Murdoch University, 90 South Street, Murdoch, WA 6105, Australia

[†]Joint first author

Keywords: COVID-19 surveillance, Sewage sampling, Viral capture method, Public health risk, Environmental monitoring.

3.1 Abstract

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) has proven to be a useful surveillance tool during the ongoing SARS-CoV-2 pandemic and has driven research into evaluating the most reliable and cost-effective techniques for obtaining a representative sample of wastewater. When liquid samples cannot be taken efficiently, passive sampling approaches have been used, however, insufficient data exists on their usefulness for multi-virus capture and recovery. In this study, we compared the virus-binding capacity of two passive samplers (cotton-based tampons and ion exchange filter papers) in two different water types (deionised water and wastewater). Here we focused on the capture of wastewater-associated viruses including Influenza A and B (Flu-A & B),

SARS-CoV-2, human adenovirus (AdV), norovirus GII (NoVGII), measles virus (MeV), pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV), the faecal marker crAssphage and the process control virus *Pseudomonas* virus phi6. After deployment, we evaluated four different methods to recover viruses from the passive samplers namely, (i) phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution followed by polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation, (ii) beef extract (BE) elution followed by PEG precipitation, (iii) noelution into PEG precipitation, and (iv) direct extraction. We found that the tampon-based passive samplers had higher viral recoveries in comparison to the filter paper. Overall, the preferred viral recovery method from the tampon passive samplers was the no-elution/PEG precipitation method. Furthermore, we evidenced that non-enveloped viruses had higher percent recoveries from the passive samplers than enveloped viruses. This is the first study of its kind to assess passive sampler and viral recovery methods amongst a plethora of viruses commonly found in wastewater or used as a viral surrogate in wastewater studies.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic, declared in March 2020, is responsible for millions of deaths worldwide (World Health Organization, 2021) and has caused major disruption to world trade and social wellbeing (Wei et al., 2021). The causative agent of COVID-19 is SARS-CoV-2, an enveloped, spherical, positive sense, single-stranded RNA (+ssRNA) virus that causes a wide-ranging infection, on a clinical spectrum from asymptomatic infection to severe flu-like symptoms.SARs-CoV-2 infected symptomatic people suffer from fever, dry cough, and shortness of breath, with some severely symptomatic patients requiring hospitalization, sometimes resulting in death (Ali and Alharbi, 2020; Zhou et al., 2020).

Positive SARS-CoV-2 cases are most often confirmed in individuals via lateral flow testing or by reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), conducted in a diagnostic laboratory. Testing is often conducted when the infected person becomes symptomatic, therefore asymptomatic cases may go undiagnosed (Kronbichler et al., 2020). For population-level disease surveillance, wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) may be used. WBE enables the sampling of large areas (Agrawal et al., 2021; Karthikeyan et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2021; Saguti et al., 2021) or can be used for small scale monitoring (Corchis-Scott et al., 2021). Either way, WBE, and is a non-invasive alternative to clinical disease monitoring (Wade et al., 2022). Detecting human pathogens through sewage is not an entirely new science and has been used for the past 75 years, mainly focusing on enteric bacteria and viruses transmitted via the faecal-oral route, for example typhoid, poliovirus, enterovirus, and adenovirus (Gell et al., 1945; Moore, 1951; Sinclair et al., 2008). SARS-CoV-2-infected individuals have been evidenced to shed virus in their faeces at 10¹ to 10⁸ genome copies (gc) g⁻¹ (Cheung et al., 2020; Jeong et al., 2020;

Zheng et al., 2020), several days before symptoms commence (Zhu et al., 2021). The shedding of SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA through faeces is independent of infection severity, and all infected individuals, including asymptomatic and pre-symptomatic cases shed through their faeces (Gerrity et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2020), whilst viral shedding in urine is rare (Huang et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). Therefore, WBE has now been successfully introduced to monitor SARS-CoV-2 on a spatial and temporal level in many communities across the globe (Agrawal et al., 2021; Ahmed et al., 2021; Gerrity et al., 2021; Gonzalez et al., 2020; Hillary et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2020; La Rosa et al., 2020; Sherchan et al., 2020). The importance of WBE in viral monitoring has led to the development of different methods for sampling wastewater. Most of the research and surveillance has been conducted using grab or composite sewage samples (Shah et al., 2022), taken either manually or with an autosampler device. However, grab samples may not be representative due to diurnal variations in virus titres in wastewater, and the deployment of autosamplers is often not feasible for logistical or economic reasons. Therefore, alternative techniques for wastewater sampling are needed.

Passive sampling is a method stemming from (Moore, 1951) where an absorbent material is immersed in the wastewater stream to capture human pathogens (Schang et al., 2021)(Schang et al., 2021; Sikorski and Levine, 2020). However, their use is not limited to biological agents, as passive samplers are also used to monitor chemical agents and pollutants in the environment (Greenwood et al., 2007). Passive sampling works on the premise that the sampler material surface charge attracts and holds viruses over a prolonged period of time (Blanco et al., 2019). The use of passive samplers, such as gauze, cotton or paper, could reduce the cost of WBE, by reducing sampling machinery and requires no electrical power or running costs. Over the course

of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic different passive samplers have been explored, such as cotton gauze (Habtewold et al., 2022; E. K. Hayes et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022b; Liu et al., 2022; Rafiee et al., 2021; Schang et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2022), cotton buds (Habtewold et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022b; Schang et al., 2021), cheese cloth (E. K. Hayes et al., 2021), electromagnetic membranes (Habtewold et al., 2022; E. K. Hayes et al., 2021; Emalie K. Hayes et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022a, 2022b; Schang et al., 2021), cellulose sponge (E. K. Hayes et al., 2021) and tampons (Bivins et al., 2022a; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022b) and their effectiveness varies dependent upon a number of factors, such as surface volume of the sampler, length of exposure time and material composition, as reviewed by (Bivins et al., 2022a). As viral loads in wastewater can be low, the sampler should be designed to effectively concentrate the virus increasing detection sensitivity (Vincent-Hubert et al., 2021, 2017). This increased sensitivity may also allow early identification of low-level disease outbreaks, including SARS-CoV-2 as hypothetically discussed by (Jiang et al., 2022). Furthermore, passive sampling has shown to outperform grab samples, being more consistent with composite sampling in well designed studies (Bivins et al., 2022a), and thus more sensitive to changes in viral loads over time; however, this has only been evidenced for SARS-CoV-2 using Moore swab sampling (Rafiee et al., 2021). Recent studies have highlighted the use of in-situ passive samplers to detect enterovirus, human adenovirus (hAdV), and pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV) and SARS-CoV-2 from wastewater (Li et al., 2022b). While these studies investigated different sampler types, with an aim to develop cheaper, less time consuming sampling methods (Li et al., 2022b). The effectiveness of viral recovery and samples processing methods from passive samplers for a range of viruses has not been explored. Therefore, assessing

the recovery of multiple viruses present in wastewater, using different methodologies and sampler type is needed to move WBE beyond SARS-CoV-2 monitoring.

3.3 Methods

3.4 STUDY AIMS

This study aims to evaluate two passive sampler materials Tampax Super Compak Tampon (Procter & Gamble Inc., Cincinnati, OH) and Whatman SG81 Si-cellulose ion exchange paper (Global Life Sciences Solutions USA, Marlborough, MA), alongside four different viral concentration and extraction methods (phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution into polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation, beef extract (BE) elution into PEG precipitation, no elution in PEG precipitation, and direct extraction), with two water types (wastewater and deionized water (dH₂O)), to identify the best material and method for viral recovery of SARS-CoV-2, Influenza A and B (Flu-A & B), measles (MeV), norovirus GII (NoVGII), adenovirus (AdV),. human faecal markers (crAssphage, pepper mild mosaic virus (PMMoV)), and one processing control virus (*Pseudomonas* virus phi6 (Phi6)). To the authors knowledge this is the first time that a comprehensive study, looking at multiple viral targets, samplers and recovery methods has been undertaken.

3.5 SAMPLE COLLECTION

On the 15th November 2021, 20 liters of untreated sewage influent (hereby referred to as wastewater) was collected at the central wastewater treatment plant (WwTP) at 09.00 h located in Bangor, North Wales, UK (53°12'34.04''N, 4°10'58.56''W). This sampling time was chosen to

reflect peak flow and aimed to capture the highest faecal load (Hillary et al., 2021). The WwTP serves a population of 40,000 people and is mainly composed of domestic wastewater with few industrial inputs. Samples of crude influent wastewater were taken from behind the primary screen (flow 285 l s⁻¹) in polypropylene bottles and immediately transported to the laboratory at 4°C for experimentation (within 5 km of the WwTP). At the time of collection, the pH of the wastewater was 7.28, the electrical conductivity was 605 μ S cm⁻¹, the turbidity was 226 NTU and the ammonium and phosphate concentrations were 1.3 mg N l⁻¹ and 2.46 mg P l⁻¹, respectively.

3.6 VIRAL STOCKS AND SPIKING

For spiking, we used inactivated SARS-CoV-2 (kindly provided by Prof Andrew Weightman, Cardiff University), inactivated influenza A/California/07/2009 (H1N1), B/Lee/40 (kindly provided by Eleanor Gaunt, University of Edinburgh), norovirus GII in diluted and filtered faecal matter from a patient with confirmed norovirus infection (kindly provided by Dr Lydia Drumwright, University of Cambridge) and measles virus in the form of a vaccine (VWR International, USA). We also used the *Pseudomonas* spp. phi6 bacteriophage, which we cultured in-house as described in (Kevill et al., 2022).

We created four groups of samples: spiked wastewater, unspiked wastewater, spiked dH₂O, and unspiked dH₂O. To achieve this, we prepared 2 × 3000 mL dH₂O and 2 × 3000 mL wastewater aliquots. Subsequently, one set of each water type was spiked with SARS-CoV-2, Flu-A, Flu-B, MeV, NoVGII and Phi6 to reach the final concentration of approx. 10^{4} - 10^{5} genome copies (gc)/mL per virus. We used this specific concentration for spiking to enable the calculation of recoveries as low as 0.1% for the precise comparison of methods. Wastewater was spiked as the water

matrices is representative of a typical wastewater sample, and dH₂O was spiked to allow for inhibition to be compared between the two sample types. The unspiked wastewater samples were used to determine the baseline of viruses that occur in wastewater (SARS-CoV-2, NoVGII, MeV, Influenza A and B). The wastewater sample used for spiking was negative of MeV, Influenza A and B, yet positive for SARS-CoV-2 and NoVGII, albeit at levels much lower than spiking concentrations (10³ gc / sampler). The unspiked dH₂O were used as negative controls. Aliquots of 100 mL of wastewater and dH₂O were placed in sterile polypropylene copolymer (PCCO) centrifuge jars for experimentation. Each aliquot was made in triplicate, in four groups for each of the four viral recovery methods and passive sampler type (Tampax Super Compak Tampon and SG81 ion exchange Whatman paper).

3.7 VIRAL RECOVERY METHODS

All samples were processed in a Containment level/Biosecurity level 2 (CL/BSC2) laboratory, in biological safety cabinets. For each of the methods and sample type (spiked or unspiked wastewater or dH₂O) a Tampax Super Compak Tampon or 3cm diameter circular, SG81 ion exchange Whatman paper (both now referred to as passive sampler) was placed into the corresponding 100 ml aliquot and left at room temperature (20°C) for one hour. The passive samplers were then recovered and transferred to plastic Ziploc[®] bags (SC Johnson & Son Inc., Racine, WI), and processed immediately as per the methods detailed below. This resulted in direct comparisons between spiked/unspiked sample and tampon/Whatman paper samplers.

Subsamples of 200 μ l spiked and unspiked wastewater and dH₂O were taken in triplicates at the start of the experiment. The nucleic acids were also extracted from these to allow baseline quantification of the viruses present.

3.7.1 Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) elution into polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation (PBS-PEG method)

Each of the passive samplers per sample type were saturated with 20 ml sterile PBS, pH 7.4. The PBS was then hand massaged into the passive sampler, the corner of the Ziploc[®] bag was cut and the liquid squeezed into a sterile 50 ml tube. The volume of each eluent was adjusted to 30 ml with PBS, this step ensured that the final concentration of PEG is consistent between samples. Samples were centrifuged at 3000 *g* at 4°C for 30 mins. The supernatant was then poured into a new sterile 50 mL centrifuge tube, without disturbing the pellet. A 10 ml aliquot of 40% PEG8000 with 8% NaCl (PEG-NaCl) solution was then added to each eluent to reach a final concentration of 10% PEG and 2% NaCl. The tubes were inverted several times to mix, followed by a 4°C incubation for 16 h. After incubation, the samples were precipitated at 10,000 *g* for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded without disturbing the pellet. The pellet was then resuspended in 800 μ l of NucliSens lysis buffer (bioMérieux SA, Marcy l'Etoile, France). The viral nucleic acids were extracted using the NucliSens extraction reagents (bioMérieux SA), as described previously (Farkas et al., 2021). The final volume of the eluent was 0.1 ml.

3.7.2 Beef extract (BE) elution into PEG precipitation (BE-PEG method)

The BE-PEG method is identical to the PBS-PEG method described above except the 20 mL sterile PBS used to saturate the passive sampler has been replaced with 20 mL 3% beef extract

containing 0.5 M glycine (Lambertini et al., 2008). The BE solution was freshly prepared on the day of use and pH of adjusted to 7.0 using NaOH, prior to the saturation of the passive sampler. The nucleic acid extraction method is also the same as that described for the PBS-PEG method.

3.7.3 No elution in PEG precipitation (No elution-PEG method)

The no elution method follows the PBS-PEG method except that PBS was not added to the passive sampler. Instead, the passive sampler was massaged and the solution it contained directly squeezed into a sterile 50 ml tube. The rest of the protocol remains the same. The nucleic acid extraction method is also the same as that described for the PBS-PEG method.

3.7.4 Direct extraction method

The direct extraction method differed between tampon and Whatman paper sampler. A 1 cm² area was cut from the tampon while for the Whatman paper all of the 3 cm diameter circle was used. Subsequently, each material was placed into 50 ml sterile polyproylene tubes alongside 2 mL of NucliSens lysis buffer (bioMérieux SA). The samples were then vortexed for 10 secs and incubated at room temperature for 10 min. The tampon fragment or Whatman paper was then removed from the solution and viral nucleic acid were extracted as described previously (Farkas et al., 2021).

3.8 QUANTIFICATION OF VIRAL RNA/DNA

Due to the number of PCR targets, differing reaction chemistry and cycling conditions, details of each qPCR method and kit are displayed in Table 1 while the primers and probes used are presented in Table 2. All reactions were run on a QuantStudio Flex 6 (Applied Biosystems Inc.,

Waltham, USA), at a reaction volume of 20 µl. Samples were run in duplicate, against a ssRNA (SARS CoV-2 N1, Phi6, influenza A and B, and measles), ssDNA (PMMoV) or plasmid DNA (CrAssphage, Adenovirus and Norovirus) standard curve dilution series of the target sequence in the range of $1-10^5$ copies μ l⁻¹ per reaction. The standard curve concentration was determined by a qubit fluorometer (Invitrogen, Waltham, USA), prior to preparing the 10-fold standard dilution series for N1 and Phi6, as these RNA standards were made in-house as previously described (Kevill et al., 2022), The remaining targets were were purchased at 10⁶ copies /µl (Influenza A and B (Twist bioscience, San Francisco, CA, USA)) or 10¹² copies / μl (Measles, PMMoV, CrAssphage, Adenovirus and Norovius (IDT, Iowa, USA)) from commercial companies. PCR no-template controls (molecular-grade water) determined the absence of contamination during the PCR setup. For RNA targets (Table 1), the TaqMan Fast Virus 1-Step Master Mix (Applied Biosystems Inc., USA) was used with 4 × Reaction Mix with ROX, 10 pmol of the forward, 20 pmol of the reverse primers and 5 pmol probe, 16 nmol MgSO₄, 1 µg bovine serum albumin (BSA), molecular grade water and 4 µl sample/standard/control. For DNA targets (Table 1) the QuantiNova Probe qPCR and QuantiFast SYBR reactions are previously described (Farkas et al., 2019, 2018).

Table 1. Viral target, genome structure, kit and qPCR cycling conditions.

Viral Target	Genome	Kit	Cycling conditions
SARS-CoV-2			
Phi6			
Influenza-A		TaqMan Fast Virus 1-Step Master	50°C 30 min, 95°C 20 sec, x 45 cycles of 95°C 0.03 sec, 60°C 3
Influenza-B		Mix	min
Norovirus GII			
Measles			
CrAssphage	DNA	QuantiNova	95°C 2 min, x 40 cycles of 95°C 15 sec, 60°C 1 min
Adopovirus		Quantifact SVPP	95°C 5 min, x 40 cycles of 95°C 15 sec, 55°C 1 min, melt at 95°C
Authovirus	DINA	Quantilast STDN	15 sec, 60°C 1 min, 95°C 15 sec

Target	Reference	Primers and	Primer and probe sequence (5'-	Target sequence (5'-3')
		probe name	3')	
SARS-CoV-2	(Centers for	N1-F	GACCCCAAAATCAGCGAAAT	GTGAAATGGTCATGTGTGGCGGTTCACTATATGTTAA
	Disease	N1-R	TCTGGTTACTGCCAGTTGAATCTG	ACCAGGTGGAACCTCATC
	Control and	N1-P	ACCCCGCATTACGTTTGGTGGACC	AGGAGATGCCACAACTGCTTATGCTAATAGTGTTTTTA
	Prevention,			A
	2020)			CATTTG
Norovirus	(ISO, 2019)	NoVGII-F	ATGTTCAGRTGGATGAGRTTCTCW	ATGTTCAGATGGATGAGAT
GII			GA	TCTCAGATCTGAGCACGTGGGAGGGCGATCGCAATCT
		NoVGII-R	TCGACGCCATCTTCATTCACA	GGCTCCCAGTTTTGTGAATGAAGATGGCGTCGA
		NoVGII-P	AGCACGTGGGAGGGCGATCG	
Pepper mild	(Haramoto et	PMMoV-F	GAGTGGTTTGACCTTAACGTTTGA	GAGTGGTTTGACCTTAACGT
mottle virus	al., 2013)	PMMoV-R	TTGTCGGTTGCAATGCAAGT	TTGAGAGGCCTACCGAAGCAAATGTCGCACTTGCATT
		PMMoV-P	CCTACCGAAGCAAATG	GCAACCGACAA
CrAssphage	(Stachler et al.,	CrAss-F	CAGAAGTACAAACTCCTAAAAAAC	CAGAAGTACAAACTCCTAAAAAACGTAGAGGTAGAGG
	2017)		GTAGAG	TATTAATAACGATTTACGTGATGTAACTCGTAAAAAGT
		CrAss-R	GATGACCAATAAACAAGCCATTAG	TTGATGAACGTACTGATTGTAATAAAGCTAATGGCTTG
			C	TTTATTGGTC
		CrAss-P	AATAACGATTTACGTGATGTAAC	
Influenza A	(Shu et al.,	Influ-A-F	CAAGACCAATCYTGTCACCTCTGAC	AAAGACAAGACCAATCCTGTCACCTCTGACTAAGGGG
	2021)		CAAGACCAATYCTGTCACCTYTGAC	ATTTTAGGATTTGTGTTCACGCTCACCGTGCCCAGTGA
		Influ-A-R	GCATTYTGGACAAAVCGTCTACG	GCGAGGACTGCAGCGTAGACGCTTTGTCCAAAATGCC
			GCATTTTGGATAAAGCGTCTACG	CTAAATGGG
		Influ-A-P	TGCAGTCCTCGCTCACTGGGCACG	
Influenza B	(Shu et al.,	Influ-B-F	TCCTCAAYTCACTCTTCGAGCG	GGATCCTCAACTCACTCTTCGAGCGTTTTGATGAAGGA
	2021)	Influ_R_P	CECTECTETEACCAAATTEE	- CATTCAAAGCCAATTCGAGCAGCTGAAACTGCGGTGG
			CONTRETETIOACCAAATIOO	GAGTCTTATCCCAATTTGGTCAAGAGCACCGATT
		Influ-B-P	CCAATTCGAGCAGCTGAAACTGCG	
			GTG	
Measles	(Hummel et	MeV-F	TGGCATCTGAACTCGGTATCAC	TGGCATCTGAACTCGGTATCACTGCTGAGGATGCAAG
virus	al., 2006)	MeV-R	TGTCCTCAGTAGTATGCATTGCAA	GCTTGTTTCAGAGATTGCAATGCATACTACTGAGGACA

Table 2. Primers and probes used for qPCR viral detection within this study.

		MeV-P	CCGAGGATGCAAGGCTTGTTTCAG	
			Α	
Phi6 phage	(Gendron et	Phi6-F	TGGCGGCGGTCAAGAGC	TGGCGGCGGTCAAGAGCAACCCGGTCGTCGCAGGTCT
	al., 2010)	Phi6-R	GGATGATTCTCCAGAAGCTGCTG	GACACTCGCTCAGATCGGAAGCACCGGTTATGACGCC
		Phi6-P	CGGTCGTCGCAGGTCTGACACTCG	TATCAGCAGCTTCTGGAGAATCATCC
			С	
Adenovirus	(van	AdV_R	CCGGCCGAGAAGGGTGTGCGCAG	CATGACTTTTGAGGTGGATCCCATGGATGAGCCCACC
	Maarseveen et	AdV_F	GTA	CTGCTTTATCTTCTTTCGAAGTCTTCGACGTGGTCAGA
	al., 2010)		CATGACTTTTGAGGTGGATC	GTGCACCAGCCACACCGCGGCGTCATCGAGGCCGTCT
				ACCTGCGCACACCGTTCTCGGCCGG

3.9 DATA ANALYSIS

qPCR data analysis and quality control were performed using the QuantStudio Real-time PCR software v1.7 (Applied Biosystems, Inc., USA). Viral concentrations were expressed as gc/µl nucleic acid extract and were converted to gc/sampler (wastewater or dH₂O) by multiplying gc/µl by final nucleic extract elution volume. The data for direct extraction method using tampon passive samplers were multiplied up to one whole tampon, as the PSB-PEG, BE-PEG, and no elution methods recover viruses from one whole tampon, this allowed for direct comparisons between methods. Triplicate 200 µl unconcentrated subsamples also underwent total nucleic acid extraction. These subsamples provided the baseline gene copies spiked per 100 ml of sample and enabled the calculation of viral recoveries. The gc/100 ml were calculated by multiplying gc/ul nucleic extract by volume of eluent (100) and then multiplying by the sample volume extracted (500). Viral recoveries were calculated by taking the average gc/sampler and then dividing by the average baseline viral concentrations. This data was then used for statistical analysis.

Statistical tests were carried out in R (R Core Team, 2020); the full script and data are provided in a dedicated repository (<u>https://github.com/CameronPellett/spiked-passive-Bangor</u>).

Passive sample material (tampon and Whatman paper), concentration and extraction method (BE-PEG, direct extraction, no elution PEG, and PBS-PEG), water type (wastewater WW, and deionised water DW), and virus envelope (enveloped, and non-enveloped) were selected as factors and co-variates of viral recovery. A sequential approach to analysis was adopted,

removing data after each test to ensure later results were representative of the expected environmental conditions and best sampling practices. A multiple linear model with interaction effects was considered but deemed unacceptable due to unrepresentative groups of data after initial tests. First, viral recovery was compared between water types to clarify the effect of inhibitors; water type comparisons were made with only spiked samples, due to a lack of naturally present virus in unspiked deionised water. After assessing water type, results for deionised water were removed from later assessment as they would not mimic expected environmental conditions in WBE. Second, the viral recovery using tampon and Whatman paper passive sample materials were compared. Following the material comparison, results using the material with significantly lower recovery were removed so that later comparison would not be skewed by a less effective material. Third, after selecting the best passive sampler material, viral recovery between laboratory processing methods were compared for samples suspended in wastewater. Then finally, the effect of a viral envelope was compared using results from the best passive sampler material suspended in wastewater with results from all processing methods. For statistical tests the recovery percentile was log transformed to meet assumptions of a Gaussian distribution (see supplementary materials Figure S1-S5 for quantile-quantile plots). Equality of variances were tested with F tests. Statistical comparisons of features with two levels and nonequal variance were made with Welch two sample t-tests. Comparisons with three or more levels and non-equal variance were made with a Welch ANOVA (one way comparison of means), followed by pairwise two sample t-tests without pooled standard deviations, adjusting p-values with the Holm-Bonferroni method. Paired tests were not selected due to missing data created by removal of undetermined results and sample removal during qPCR quality control.
3.10 RESULTS

3.10.1 Wastewater reduces recovery of spiked virus compared to deionised water

To clarify the effect of inhibitors, recovery of virus from passive samples suspended in wastewater and deionised water (dH_2O) were compared. Passive samples had a greater median recovery of spiked viruses when they were suspended in deionised water (1.26%; n = 121) compared to suspension in wastewater (0.26%; n = 136). The difference between water types was found to be significant when comparing log transformed recovery (Figure 1a; Welch Two Sample t-test (log y): t = 2.1, df = 198, *p*-value < 0.05); this trend was seen in comparisons between all individual viruses (Figure 1b). These results suggest chemicals or other materials in wastewater influence uptake of virus on the passive sampler or inhibit later processing and quantification of the viral nucleotides collected in the sample. After identifying the differences in recovery between water types, only data for wastewater suspended samples were taken forward for further analysis, as these better reflected real-world conditions. Details of sample type, sampler type and viral recovery are also individually presented in supplementary figure 1.



Figure 1: Comparison of spiked virus recovery using passive samplers in wastewater (WW) and deionised water (DW). Panel 'a' combines data for all viruses, whilst panel 'b' separates recovery by each virus, such as influenza A and B (Flu-A and Flu-B), measles virus (MeV), SARS-CoV-2 (N1), norovirus GII (NoVGII) and bacteriophage phi6 (Phi6). A Welch two sample t-test was used to compare log transformed recoveries. Biological replicates were not averaged.

3.10.2 Tampon passive samplers have improved recovery over Whatman paper in wastewater samples

To identify the optimum material of passive samplers, tampon and Whatman paper samplers were compared. The median recovery of Tampon passive samplers (0.59%; n = 136) were greater than the recoveries observed for Whatman paper (0.16%; n = 140). This was found to be significant when comparing log transformed recovery (Figure 2a; Welch Two Sample t-test (log y): t = 11.6, df = 248, *p*-value < 0.001), the same trend was seen in all individual viruses (Figure 2b). These results indicate Whatman paper is not suitable as a wastewater passive sampler. Therefore, all further data analysis was performed on the tampon passive sampler data.



Figure 2: Comparison of viral recovery of tampon (T) and Whatman (W) paper passive samplers suspended in wastewater. Panel 'a' combines data for all viruses, whilst panel 'b' separates recovery by each virus such as human adenovirus (AdV), crAssphage (CrAss), Flu-A and Flu-B, MeV, SARS-CoV-2, NoVGII, Phi6 and pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV). A Welch two sample ttest was used to compare log transformed recoveries.

3.10.3 No elution PEG and direct extraction methods have improved viral recovery

To select the most efficient passive sample viral concentration and extraction method, four processing methods were compared. The no elution PEG concentration method had the highest median viral recovery (1.97%; n = 36), followed by direct extraction (0.81%; n = 36), BE-PEG (0.43%; n = 36), then PBS-PEG methods (0.03%; n = 28). Significant differences between the log transformed viral recovery of the methods were found (Figure 3a; Welch ANOVA (log y): F = 28.1, df = 3, *p*-value < 0.001), though pairwise comparisons found no significant difference between the no elution PEG and direct extraction methods (Figure 3c). This was likely due to some viruses (AdV and Phi6) having greater recovery with direct extraction compared to no elution PEG (Figure 3b). These results suggest the no elution PEG method is generally preferred for processing passive samples, but if AdV or Phi6 are the primary targets, the direct extraction method may be selected.



Figure 3: Comparison of viral recovery between processing methods carried out on tampon passive samples suspended in wastewater. Panel 'a' combine's data for all viruses, panel 'b' separates recovery by each virus, and panel 'c' shows p-values (*p*-value: < 0.001 [***]; < 0.01[**]; < 0.05 [*]; > 0.05 [.]) of pairwise t-tests without pooled standard deviations adjusted with the Holm-Bonferroni method.

3.10.4 Enveloped viruses have reduced recovery using passive samplers

The viral envelope was identified as a potentially key virus characteristic that may impact viral recovery. Enveloped and non-enveloped viruses were, grouped and their recovery compared. Non-enveloped viruses had a greater median recovery (0.63%; n = 90), compared to enveloped viruses (0.32%; n = 46). The difference in mean log transformed recovery between enveloped and non-enveloped viruses was found to be significant (Welch Two Sample t-test (log y): t = 2.5, df = 71, *p*-value < 0.05; Figure 4a). These results indicate the viral envelope may be influencing the uptake of viral particles by the passive sampler.



Figure 4: Comparison of enveloped and non-enveloped virus recovery. Panel 'a' combines data from all viruses, whilst panel 'b' separates viruses individually. A Welch two sample t-test was used to compare log transformed recoveries.

3.11 DISCUSSION

Cotton, tampon-based passive sampler devices have been used for wastewater viral infection surveillance in previous studies (Bivins et al., 2022b; Corchis-Scott et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022b) and have proven successful. A study of different passive sampler types show tampons are more effective than some traditional (Moore swab) and novel (cotton-based medical gauze swab) materials for the recovery of SARS-CoV-2 from wastewater in-situ (Lambert-Slosarska et al., 2022, paper in prep). This study compares the two best passive sampler methods; Tampon and Whatman filter Paper as per Lambert-Slosarska et al. (2022, paper in prep), for the recovery of eight viruses commonly detected in wastewater and one internal control. This study evidenced that viral recoveries from Whatman paper were poor compared to that of tampons. Both the tampons and Whatman paper were saturated in sample for one hour, showing that short sampling regimes allow viral absorption in tampon passive samplers, yet viruses were barely recovered using the Whatman paper. We recognise that one limitation of this study is that passive sampler materials were submerged in a constant concentration of viruses, in a laboratory setting, which does not reflect the field scenario for passive sampling. Therefore, we could not assess the recovery of low abundant viruses or the effect of flow rate upon the passive sampler material. In this study we saturated the passive sampler material for one hour, which was efficient for viral capture. One hour was selected as tampon deployment into the main wastewater stream in field experiments showed that tampons reached saturation within <3 hrs (unpublished data). Furthermore, short sampling regimes (<8 hrs) using tampons have been recommended, whilst other passive sampler types such as electronegative membranes may be better for longer continuous sampling (48 hrs) (Li et al., 2022b).

A range of viruses commonly detected in wastewater (Ahmed et al., 2020a; Eftim et al., 2017; Elmahdy et al., 2019, 2020; Heijnen and Medema, 2011; Hewitt et al., 2011; Kazama et al., 2016; Rosario et al., 2009; Tiwari et al., 2021), as well as viral surrogates (phi6) were selected to determine viral affinity for passive sampler type. Understanding viral affinity for passive sampler type is crucial for future experimental design in a world beyond SARS-CoV-2 surveillance where other viral targets begin to be monitored. The method used to recover/precipitate viruses from tampon passive samplers impacted percent recovery, and we found that the no-elution and direct extraction methods were best for viral recoveries from tampons. Viral recoveries were no greater than 10% when using tampons as passive samplers, while other studies evidence far higher viral recoveries of viruses precipitated directly from wastewater (Ahmed et al., 2020c; Brinkman et al., 2013; Farkas et al., 2018; Ikner et al., 2012) Farkas et al., 2022, paper in prep). Passive samplers allow for ease of sampling, are cheaper than using autosamplers, and in the case of the direct extraction method provide much faster sample to data turn around. Therefore, whilst recoveries are lower than some precipitation methods, passive samplers maybe preferred due to constraints such as short reporting times, lack of funds or expensive equipment. Furthermore, alternative passive samplers such as electromagnetic membranes have been shown to comparable to composite samplings (Habtewold et al., 2022; Schang et al., 2021) and may be a better alternative to tampon passive samplers if readily available.

The target virus may influence the choice of method used for viral recovery/precipitation from tampon passive samplers. The no elution PEG method is preferred, as viral recoveries were slightly higher (albeit non-significantly so) when compared to the direct extraction method. The

no elution PEG method had consistently higher viral recovery for all viruses except AdV. If AdV is the target virus, then the direct extraction method is preferred for viral recovery from tampon passive samplers. However, In addition to consideration of viral type and method for viral recovery from tampons, it is also worth considering the viral structure (enveloped or unenveloped), as unenveloped viruses had significantly higher mean recovery than enveloped ones. This may be explained by the fact that enveloped viruses are considered more fragile in the environment, as the phospholipid bilayer envelope and its associated proteins are more likely to be affected by changes in temperature, pH, and some disinfectants (Dvorak et al., 2005; Saadatpour and Mohammadipanah, 2020) than non-enveloped viruses (Firquet et al., 2015). Similarly, enveloped viruses are also likely to become inactivated in wastewater than nonenveloped viruses (Casanova et al., 2009; Gundy et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2016), this is particularly true for SARS-CoV-2 (Ahmed et al., 2020b; Rimoldi et al., 2020; Tran et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2005). For this reason, the use of inactivated, enveloped viruses for this study is appropriate; However, it is worth noting that enveloped viruses are diverse and little knowledge is available about their fate and persistence in wastewater environments. The alternative is that nonenveloped viruses have a higher affinity to tampon passive samples than enveloped viruses and hence cannot be eluted efficiently, however, this is yet to be evidenced.

The comparison between viral recoveries from dH₂O and wastewater indicate that inhibitors are also present in samples recovered/precipitated from passive samplers, which ultimately affect qPCR and potentially other downstream applications. Inhibitors are naturally found in substances that make up the wastewater matrices such as bile salts in faeces (Lantz et al., 1997), complex polysaccharides found in faeces and plant material (Demeke and Adams,

1992; Monteiro et al., 1997), humic substances found in soils and plant materials (Tsai and Olson, 1992; Watson and Blackwell, 2000), and urea (Khan et al., 1991). Efforts can be made to reduce inhibitor levels, such as precipitating the solids from liquid via the initial centrifugation of the sample and including multiple wash steps during nucleic acid extraction (as per our protocols), however, inhibitor presence in wastewater samples are often unavoidable. Furthermore, the effect of surfactants originating from cleaning products upon passive samplers' ability to retain viral particles and nucleic acids is unknown and may be a potential route for viral loss/degradation; further research into this is suggested.

3.12 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Overall, tampons as passive samplers were more effective than Whatman Si-cellulose ion exchange filter papers for the recovery of viruses from wastewater. Our data suggest that viruses can be recovered from passive samplers by simply draining and concentrating the liquid from the samplers or by extracting viral nucleic acids directly from the passive sampler material. The deployment and process of passive samplers are simple, affordable and can be implemented at any WBE surveillance laboratory. Therefore, we recommend the use of tampons as samplers in areas where composite sampling is not feasible.

Viral structures had a significant effect on viral recoveries, and further work is needed to understand the mechanisms behind this. Future studies into the effect of temperature, pH, and disinfectants upon viral recovery from tampon passive samplers are also needed to fully understand the impact of wastewater matrices on viral recovery. In addition, the housing of the

passive samplers also requires further consideration as this may also influence the efficiency of

viral capture.

3.13 AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualisation; KF, JLK. Laboratory work; KLS, NW, IRO, IP, NAS. Data analysis and curation; CP, KLS, JLK. First manuscript draft; JLK, KLS, CP. Final suggested edits; KF, DLJ. Funding acquisition; DLJ, KF.

3.14 FUNDING

The work was supported under the C215.3 Wastewater Based Epidemiology Programme within the UK Government Accelerated Capability Environment (ACE). The Centre for Environmental Biotechnology Project was funded though the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) by Welsh Government.

3.15 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

3.16 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Prof Andrew Weightman (Cardiff University, UK), Dr Lydia Drumwright, (University of Cambridge, UK) and Eleanor Gaunt (University of Edinburgh. UK) for providing the inactivated SARS-CoV-2, norovirus and influenza virus stocks and Ian Goodfellow (University of Cambridge, UK) for providing the original MNV stock. We also thank Tony Harrington at Dŵr Cymru-Welsh Water alongside staff at the wastewater treatment facility for their support in this project. We acknowledge the support of Daphne Beniston and Malcolm McGeoch at Accelerated Capability Environment (ACE) for project support. Thanks are also due to Andrew Singer at the UK Centre

for Ecology and Hydrology and Jasmine Grimsley at the UK Heath Security Agency for their academic input.

3.17 REFERENCES:

- Agrawal, S., Orschler, L., Lackner, S., 2021. Long-term monitoring of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater of the Frankfurt metropolitan area in Southern Germany. Sci. Rep. 2021 111 11, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84914-2
- Ahmed, W., Angel, N., Edson, J., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., O'Brien, J.W., Choi, P.M., Kitajima, M., Simpson, S.L., Li, J., Tscharke, B., Verhagen, R., Smith, W.J.M., Zaugg, J., Dierens, L., Hugenholtz, P., Thomas, K. V., Mueller, J.F., 2020a. First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the wastewater surveillance of COVID-19 in the community. Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138764
- Ahmed, W., Bertsch, P.M., Bibby, K., Haramoto, E., Hewitt, J., Huygens, F., Gyawali, P., Korajkic,
 A., Riddell, S., Sherchan, S.P., Simpson, S.L., Sirikanchana, K., Symonds, E.M., Verhagen,
 R., Vasan, S.S., Kitajima, M., Bivins, A., 2020b. Decay of SARS-CoV-2 and surrogate murine
 hepatitis virus RNA in untreated wastewater to inform application in wastewater-based
 epidemiology. Environ. Res. 191, 110092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110092
- Ahmed, W., Bertsch, P.M., Bivins, A., Bibby, K., Farkas, K., Gathercole, A., Haramoto, E., Gyawali,
 P., Korajkic, A., McMinn, B.R., Mueller, J.F., Simpson, S.L., Smith, W.J.M., Symonds, E.M.,
 Thomas, K. V., Verhagen, R., Kitajima, M., 2020c. Comparison of virus concentration
 methods for the RT-qPCR-based recovery of murine hepatitis virus, a surrogate for SARSCoV-2 from untreated wastewater. Sci. Total Environ. 739, 139960.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.139960
- Ahmed, W., Tscharke, B., Bertsch, P.M., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., Choi, P., Clarke, L., Dwyer, J., Edson,
 J., Nguyen, T.M.H., O'Brien, J.W., Simpson, S.L., Sherman, P., Thomas, K. V., Verhagen, R.,
 Zaugg, J., Mueller, J.F., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 RNA monitoring in wastewater as a potential

early warning system for COVID-19 transmission in the community: A temporal case study. Sci. Total Environ. 761, 144216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144216

- Ali, I., Alharbi, O.M.L., 2020. COVID-19: Disease, management, treatment, and social impact. Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138861. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.138861
- Bivins, A., Kaya, D., Ahmed, W., Brown, J., Butler, C., Greaves, J., Leal, R., Maas, K., Rao, G., Sherchan, S., Sills, D., Sinclair, R., Wheeler, R.T., Mansfeldt, C., 2022a. Passive sampling to scale wastewater surveillance of infectious disease: Lessons learned from COVID-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155347
- Bivins, A., Lott, M., Shaffer, M., Wu, Z., North, D., Lipp, E.K., Bibby, K., 2022b. Building-level wastewater surveillance using tampon swabs and RT-LAMP for rapid SARS-CoV-2 RNA detection. Environ. Sci. Water Res. Technol. 8, 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1ew00496d
- Blanco, A., Abid, I., Al-Otaibi, N., Pérez-Rodríguez, F.J., Fuentes, C., Guix, S., Pintó, R.M., Bosch,
 A., 2019. Glass Wool Concentration Optimization for the Detection of Enveloped and Nonenveloped Waterborne Viruses. Food Environ. Virol. 11, 184–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12560-019-09378-0/FIGURES/1
- Brinkman, N.E., Haffler, T.D., Cashdollar, J.L., Rhodes, E.R., 2013. Evaluation of methods using celite to concentrate norovirus, adenovirus and enterovirus from wastewater. J. Virol. Methods 193, 140–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JVIROMET.2013.05.014
- Casanova, L., Rutala, W.A., Weber, D.J., Sobsey, M.D., 2009. Survival of surrogate coronaviruses in water. Water Res. 43, 1893–1898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.02.002
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020. Real-time RT-PCR Primers and Probes for COVID-19 [WWW Document]. Cent. Dis. Control Prev. URL https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/lab/rt-pcr-panel-primer-probes.html (accessed 1.28.22).
- Cheung, K.S., Hung, I.F.N., Chan, P.P.Y., Lung, K.C., Tso, E., Liu, R., Ng, Y.Y., Chu, M.Y., Chung, T.W.H., Tam, A.R., Yip, C.C.Y., Leung, K.H., Fung, A.Y.F., Zhang, R.R., Lin, Y., Cheng, H.M., Zhang, A.J.X., To, K.K.W., Chan, K.H., Yuen, K.Y., Leung, W.K., 2020. Gastrointestinal Manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Virus Load in Fecal Samples From a Hong

Kong Cohort: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 159, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.03.065

- Corchis-Scott, R., Geng, Q., Seth, R., Ray, R., Beg, M., Biswas, N., Charron, L., Drouillard, K.D., D'Souza, R., Heath, D.D., Houser, C., Lawal, F., McGinlay, J., Menard, S.L., Porter, L.A., Rawlings, D., Scholl, M.L., Siu, K.W.M., Tong, Y., Weisener, C.G., Wilhelm, S.W., McKay, R.M.L., 2021. Averting an Outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 in a University Residence Hall through Wastewater Surveillance. Microbiol. Spectr. 9. https://doi.org/10.1128/SPECTRUM.00792-21
- Demeke, T., Adams, R.P., 1992. The effects of plant polysaccharides and buffer additives on PCR. BioTechniques 12.
- Dvorak, G., Roth, J., Amass, S., 2005. Disinfection 101.
- Eftim, S.E., Hong, T., Soller, J., Boehm, A., Warren, I., Ichida, A., Nappier, S.P., 2017. Occurrence of norovirus in raw sewage – A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Water Res. 111, 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2017.01.017
- Elmahdy, E.M., Ahmed, N.I., Shaheen, M.N.F., Mohamed, E.C.B., Loutfy, S.A., 2019. Molecular detection of human adenovirus in urban wastewater in Egypt and among children suffering from acute gastroenteritis. J. Water Health 17, 287–294. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2019.303
- Elmahdy, E.M., Shaheen, M.N.F., Rizk, N.M., Saad-Hussein, A., 2020. Quantitative Detection of Human Adenovirus and Human Rotavirus Group A in Wastewater and El-Rahawy Drainage Canal Influencing River Nile in the North of Giza, Egypt 12, 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-020-09429-x
- Farkas, K., Adriaenssens, E.M., Walker, D.I., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones, D.L., 2019. Critical Evaluation of CrAssphage as a Molecular Marker for Human-Derived Wastewater Contamination in the Aquatic Environment. Food Environ. Virol. 11, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-019-09369-1
- Farkas, K., Cooper, D.M., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., de Rougemont, A., Jones, D.L., 2018. Seasonal and spatial dynamics of enteric viruses in wastewater and in riverine and

estuarine receiving waters. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1174–1183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.038

- Farkas, K., Hillary, L.S., Thorpe, J., Walker, D.I., Lowther, J.A., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones,
 D.L., 2021. Concentration and Quantification of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in Wastewater Using
 Polyethylene Glycol-Based Concentration and qRT-PCR. Methods Protoc. 4, 17.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/mps4010017
- Firquet, S., Beaujard, S., Lobert, P.E., Sané, F., Caloone, D., Izard, D., Hober, D., 2015. Survival of Enveloped and Non-Enveloped Viruses on Inanimate Surfaces. Microbes Environ. 30, 140. https://doi.org/10.1264/JSME2.ME14145
- Gell, P.G.H., Hobbs, B.C., Allison, V.D., 1945. An outbreak of water-borne typhoid investigated by bacteriophage typing and 'selective' sewage examination. J. Hyg. (Lond.) 44, 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022172400035944
- Gendron, L., Verreault, D., Veillette, M., Moineau, S., Duchaine, C., 2010. Aerosol Science and Technology Evaluation of Filters for the Sampling and Quantification of RNA Phage Aerosols Evaluation of Filters for the Sampling and Quantification of RNA Phage Aerosols. https://doi.org/10.1080/02786826.2010.501351
- Gerrity, D., Papp, K., Stoker, M., Sims, A., Frehner, W., 2021. Early-pandemic wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 in Southern Nevada: Methodology, occurrence, and incidence/prevalence considerations. Water Res. X 10, 100086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2020.100086
- Gonzalez, R., Curtis, K., Bivins, A., Bibby, K., Weir, M.H., Yetka, K., Thompson, H., Keeling, D.,
 Mitchell, J., Gonzalez, D., 2020. COVID-19 surveillance in Southeastern Virginia using
 wastewater-based epidemiology. Water Res. 186, 116296.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116296
- Greenwood, R. (Richard), Mills, G. (Graham), Vrana, B. (Branislav), 2007. Passive sampling techniques in environmental monitoring. Elsevier.
- Gundy, P.M., Gerba, C.P., Pepper, I.L., 2009. Survival of Coronaviruses in Water and Wastewater. Food Environ. Virol. 1, 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12560-008-9001-6

- Habtewold, J., McCarthy, D., McBean, E., Law, I., Goodridge, L., Habash, M., Murphy, H.M., 2022.
 Passive sampling, a practical method for wastewater-based surveillance of SARS-CoV-2.
 Environ. Res. 204, 112058. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2021.112058
- Haramoto, E., Kitajima, M., Kishida, N., Konno, Y., Katayama, H., Asami, M., Akiba, M., 2013.
 Occurrence of Pepper Mild Mottle Virus in Drinking Water Sources in Japan. Appl. Environ.
 Microbiol. 79, 7413. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02354-13
- Hayes, E. K., Sweeney, C.L., Anderson, L.E., Li, B., Erjavec, G.B., Gouthro, M.T., Krkosek, W.H., Stoddart, A.K., Gagnon, G.A., 2021. A novel passive sampling approach for SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater in a Canadian province with low prevalence of COVID-19. Environ. Sci. Water Res. Technol. 7, 1576–1586. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1EW00207D
- Hayes, Emalie K., Sweeney, C.L., Fuller, M., Erjavec, G.B., Stoddart, A.K., Gagnon, G.A., 2021.
 Operational Constraints of Detecting SARS-CoV-2 on Passive Samplers using Electronegative Filters: A Kinetic and Equilibrium Analysis. ACS Environ. Sci. Technol. Water.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSESTWATER.1C00441/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/EW1C00441_0 004.JPEG

- Heijnen, L., Medema, G., 2011. Surveillance of Influenza A and the pandemic influenza A (H1N1)
 2009 in sewage and surface water in the Netherlands.
 https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2011.019
- Hewitt, J., Leonard, M., Greening, G.E., Lewis, G.D., 2011. Influence of wastewater treatment process and the population size on human virus profiles in wastewater. Water Res. 45, 6267–6276. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2011.09.029
- Hillary, L.S., Farkas, K., Maher, K.H., Lucaci, A., Thorpe, J., Distaso, M.A., Gaze, W.H., Paterson, S., Burke, T., Connor, T.R., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Jones, D.L., 2021. Monitoring SARS-CoV-2 in municipal wastewater to evaluate the success of lockdown measures for controlling COVID-19 in the UK. Water Res. 200, 117214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2021.117214

- Huang, Y., Chen, S., Yang, Z., Guan, W., Liu, D., Lin, Z., Zhang, Y., Xu, Z., Liu, X., Li, Y., 2020. SARS-CoV-2 viral load in clinical samples from critically ill patients. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.202003-0572LE
- Hummel, K.B., Lowe, L., Bellini, W.J., Rota, P.A., 2006. Development of quantitative gene-specific real-time RT-PCR assays for the detection of measles virus in clinical specimens. J. Virol. Methods 132, 166–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JVIROMET.2005.10.006
- Ikner, L.A., Gerba, C.P., Bright, K.R., 2012. Concentration and Recovery of Viruses from Water: A Comprehensive Review. Food Environ. Virol. 4, 41–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12560-012-9080-2/TABLES/6
- ISO, 2019. ISO/TS 15216-1:2013 Microbiology of food and animal feed -- Horizontal method for determination of hepatitis A virus and norovirus in food using real-time RT-PCR -. Int. Organ. Stand. 15216–1, 31.
- Jeong, H.W., Kim, S.M., Kim, H.S., Kim, Y. II, Kim, J.H., Cho, J.Y., Kim, S. hyung, Kang, H., Kim, S.G.,
 Park, S.J., Kim, E.H., Choi, Y.K., 2020. Viable SARS-CoV-2 in various specimens from COVID19 patients. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 26, 1520–1524.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.07.020
- Jiang, A.Z., Nian, F., Chen, · Han, Mcbean, · Edward A, 2022. Passive Samplers, an Important Tool for Continuous Monitoring of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 2022 1, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-022-19073-6
- Karthikeyan, S., Ronquillo, N., Belda-Ferre, P., Alvarado, D., Javidi, T., Longhurst, C.A., Knight, R.,
 2021. High-Throughput Wastewater SARS-CoV-2 Detection Enables Forecasting of
 Community Infection Dynamics in San Diego County. mSystems 6.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/MSYSTEMS.00045-21/SUPPL_FILE/MSYSTEMS.00045-21ST003.DOCX
- Kazama, S., Masago, Y., Tohma, K., Souma, N., Imagawa, T., Suzuki, A., Liu, X., Saito, M., Oshitani,
 H., Omura, T., 2016. Temporal dynamics of norovirus determined through monitoring of
 municipal wastewater by pyrosequencing and virological surveillance of gastroenteritis
 cases. Water Res. 92, 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2015.10.024

- Kevill, J.L., Pellett, C., Farkas, K., Brown, M.R., Bassano, I., Denise, H., McDonald, J.E., Malham, S.K., Porter, J., Warren, J., Evens, N.P., Paterson, S., Singer, A.C., Jones, D.L., 2022. A comparison of precipitation and filtration-based SARS-CoV-2 recovery methods and the influence of temperature, turbidity, and surfactant load in urban wastewater. Sci. Total Environ. 808, 151916. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.151916
- Khan, G., Kangro, H.O., Coates, P.J., Heath, R.B., 1991. Inhibitory effects of urine on the polymerase chain reaction for cytomegalovirus DNA. J. Clin. Pathol. 44, 360–365. https://doi.org/10.1136/JCP.44.5.360
- Kronbichler, A., Kresse, D., Yoon, S., Lee, K.H., Effenberger, M., Shin, J. II, 2020. Asymptomatic patients as a source of COVID-19 infections: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int.
 J. Infect. Dis. 98, 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJID.2020.06.052
- Kumar, M., Joshi, M., Patel, A.K., Joshi, C.G., 2021. Unravelling the early warning capability of wastewater surveillance for COVID-19: A temporal study on SARS-CoV-2 RNA detection and need for the escalation. Environ. Res. 196, 110946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110946
- Kumar, M., Patel, A.K., Shah, A. V., Raval, J., Rajpara, N., Joshi, M., Joshi, C.G., 2020. First proof of the capability of wastewater surveillance for COVID-19 in India through detection of genetic material of SARS-CoV-2. Sci. Total Environ. 746, 141326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141326
- La Rosa, G., Iaconelli, M., Mancini, P., Bonanno Ferraro, G., Veneri, C., Bonadonna, L., Lucentini,
 L., Suffredini, E., 2020. First detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewaters in Italy.
 Sci. Total Environ. 736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139652
- Lambertini, E., Spencer, S.K., Bertz, P.D., Loge, F.J., Kieke, B.A., Borchardt, M.A., 2008.
 Concentration of Enteroviruses, Adenoviruses, and Noroviruses from Drinking Water by
 Use of Glass Wool Filters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, 2990–2996.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02246-07
- Lantz, P.G., Matsson, M., Wadström, T., Rådström, P., 1997. Removal of PCR inhibitors from human faecal samples through the use of an aqueous two-phase system for sample

preparation prior to PCR. J. Microbiol. Methods 28, 159–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(97)00979-2

- Li, J., Ahmed, W., Metcalfe, S., Smith, W.J.M., Tscharke, B., Lynch, P., Sherman, P., Vo, P.H.N., Kaserzon, S.L., Simpson, S.L., McCarthy, D.T., Thomas, K. V., Mueller, J.F., Thai, P., 2022a. Monitoring of SARS-CoV-2 in sewersheds with low COVID-19 cases using a passive sampling technique. Water Res. 218, 118481. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2022.118481
- Li, J., Verhagen, R., Ahmed, W., Metcalfe, S., Thai, P.K., Kaserzon, S.L., Smith, W.J.M., Schang, C., Simpson, S.L., Thomas, K. V., Mueller, J.F., Mccarthy, D., 2022b. In Situ Calibration of Passive Samplers for Viruses in Wastewater. ACS EST Water acsestwater.1c00406. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSESTWATER.1C00406
- Liu, P., Ibaraki, M., VanTassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Guo, L., Moe, C.L., 2022. A sensitive, simple, and low-cost method for COVID-19 wastewater surveillance at an institutional level. Sci. Total Environ. 807, 151047. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.151047
- Lo, I.L., Lio, C.F., Cheong, H.H., Lei, C.I., Cheong, T.H., Zhong, X., Tian, Y., Sin, N.N., 2020. Evaluation of sars-cov-2 rna shedding in clinical specimens and clinical characteristics of 10 patients with COVID-19 in Macau. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 16, 1698–1707. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45357
- Monteiro, L., Bonnemaison, D., Vekris, A., Petry, K.G., Bonnet, J., Vidal, R., Cabrita, J., Graud, F.M., 1997. Complex Polysaccharides as PCR Inhibitors in Feces: Helicobacter pylori Model. J. Clin. Microbiol. 35, 995–998.
- Moore, B., 1951. The detection of enteric carriers in towns by means of sewage examination. J. R. Sanit. Inst. G. B. 71, 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/146642405107100109
- Rafiee, M., Isazadeh, S., Mohseni-Bandpei, A., Mohebbi, S.R., Jahangiri-rad, M., Eslami, A., Dabiri,
 H., Roostaei, K., Tanhaei, M., Amereh, F., 2021. Moore swab performs equal to composite
 and outperforms grab sampling for SARS-CoV-2 monitoring in wastewater. Sci. Total
 Environ. 790. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.148205

- Rimoldi, S.G., Stefani, F., Gigantiello, A., Polesello, S., Comandatore, F., Mileto, D., Maresca, M.,
 Longobardi, C., Mancon, A., Romeri, F., Pagani, C., Cappelli, F., Roscioli, C., Moja, L.,
 Gismondo, M.R., Salerno, F., 2020. Presence and infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 virus in
 wastewaters and rivers. Sci. Total Environ. 744, 140911.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.140911
- Rosario, K., Symonds, E.M., Sinigalliano, C., Stewart, J., Breitbart, M., Petersburg, S., 2009. Pepper Mild Mottle Virus as an Indicator of Fecal Pollution. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7261– 7267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00410-09
- Saadatpour, F., Mohammadipanah, F., 2020. Physicochemical susceptibility of SARS-CoV-2 to disinfection and physical approach of prophylaxis. https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.213
- Saguti, F., Magnil, E., Enache, L., Churqui, M.P., Johansson, A., Lumley, D., Davidsson, F., Dotevall, L., Mattsson, A., Trybala, E., Lagging, M., Lindh, M., Gisslén, M., Brezicka, T., Nyström, K., Norder, H., 2021. Surveillance of wastewater revealed peaks of SARS-CoV-2 preceding those of hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Water Res. 189, 116620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116620
- Schang, C., Crosbie, N.D., Nolan, M., Poon, R., Wang, M., Jex, A., John, N., Baker, L., Scales, P.,
 Schmidt, J., Thorley, B.R., Hill, K., Zamyadi, A., Tseng, C.W., Henry, R., Kolotelo, P.,
 Langeveld, J., Schilperoort, R., Shi, B., Einsiedel, S., Thomas, M., Black, J., Wilson, S.,
 McCarthy, D.T., 2021. Passive Sampling of SARS-CoV-2 for Wastewater Surveillance.
 Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 10432–10441.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.1C01530/SUPPL FILE/ES1C01530 SI 001.PDF
- Shah, S., Gwee, S.X.W., Ng, J.Q.X., Lau, N., Koh, J., Pang, J., 2022. Wastewater surveillance to infer COVID-19 transmission: A systematic review. Sci. Total Environ. 804, 150060. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.150060
- Sherchan, S.P., Shahin, S., Ward, L.M., Tandukar, S., Aw, T.G., Schmitz, B., Ahmed, W., Kitajima,
 M., 2020. First detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater in North America: A study in
 Louisiana, USA. Sci. Total Environ. 743, 140621.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140621

- Shu, B., Kirby, M.K., Davis, W.G., Warnes, C., Liddell, J., Liu, J., Wu, K.H., Hassell, N., Benitez, A.J.,
 Wilson, M.M., Keller, M.W., Rambo-Martin, B.L., Camara, Y., Winter, J., Kondor, R.J., Zhou,
 B., Spies, S., Rose, L.E., Winchell, J.M., Limbago, B.M., Wentworth, D.E., Barnes, J.R., 2021.
 Multiplex Real-Time Reverse Transcription PCR for Influenza A Virus, Influenza B Virus,
 and Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 27, 1821.
 https://doi.org/10.3201/EID2707.210462
- Sikorski, M.J., Levine, M.M., 2020. Reviving the "Moore Swab": a Classic Environmental Surveillance Tool Involving Filtration of Flowing Surface Water and Sewage Water To Recover Typhoidal Salmonella Bacteria.
- Sinclair, R.G., Choi, C.Y., Riley, M.R., Gerba, C.P., 2008. Pathogen surveillance through monitoring of sewer systems. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 65, 249–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(08)00609-6
- Stachler, E., Kelty, C., Sivaganesan, M., Li, X., Bibby, K., Shanks, O.C., 2017. Quantitative CrAssphage PCR Assays for Human Fecal Pollution Measurement. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 9146. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.7B02703
- Tiwari, S.B., Gahlot, P., Tyagi, V.K., Zhang, L., Zhou, Y., A.A.Kazmi, Kumar, M., 2021. Surveillance of Wastewater for Early Epidemic Prediction (SWEEP): Environmental and Health Security Perspectives in the post COVID-19 Anthropocene. Environ. Res. 195, 110831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110831
- Tran, H.N., Le, G.T., Nguyen, D.T., Juang, R.S., Rinklebe, J., Bhatnagar, A., Lima, E.C., Iqbal, H.M.N., Sarmah, A.K., Chao, H.P., 2021. SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus in water and wastewater: A critical review about presence and concern. Environ. Res. 193, 110265. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2020.110265
- Tsai, Y.L., Olson, B.H., 1992. Rapid method for separation of bacterial DNA from humic substances in sediments for polymerase chain reaction. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58, 2292–2295. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.58.7.2292-2295.1992
- van Maarseveen, N.M., Wessels, E., de Brouwer, C.S., Vossen, A.C.T.M., Claas, E.C.J., 2010. Diagnosis of viral gastroenteritis by simultaneous detection of Adenovirus group F, Astrovirus, Rotavirus group A, Norovirus genogroups I and II, and Sapovirus in two

internally controlled multiplex real-time PCR assays. J. Clin. Virol. 49, 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCV.2010.07.019

- Vincent-Hubert, F., Morga, B., Renault, T., Le Guyader, F.S., 2017. Adsorption of norovirus and ostreid herpesvirus type 1 to polymer membranes for the development of passive samplers. J. Appl. Microbiol. 122, 1039–1047. https://doi.org/10.1111/JAM.13394
- Vincent-Hubert, F., Wacrenier, C., Morga, B., Lozach, S., Quenot, E., Mège, M., Lecadet, C., Gourmelon, M., Hervio-Heath, D., Le Guyader, F.S., 2021. Passive Samplers, a Powerful Tool to Detect Viruses and Bacteria in Marine Coastal Areas. Front. Microbiol. 12, 333. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2021.631174/BIBTEX
- Wade, M.J., Lo Jacomo, A., Armenise, E., Brown, M.R., Bunce, J.T., Cameron, G.J., Fang, Z., Farkas,
 K., Gilpin, D.F., Graham, D.W., Grimsley, J.M.S., Hart, A., Hoffmann, T., Jackson, K.J., Jones,
 D.L., Lilley, C.J., McGrath, J.W., McKinley, J.M., McSparron, C., Nejad, B.F., Morvan, M.,
 Quintela-Baluja, M., Roberts, A.M.I., Singer, A.C., Souque, C., Speight, V.L., Sweetapple,
 C., Walker, D., Watts, G., Weightman, A., Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., 2022. Understanding and
 managing uncertainty and variability for wastewater monitoring beyond the pandemic:
 Lessons learned from the United Kingdom national COVID-19 surveillance programmes.
 J. Hazard. Mater. 424, 127456. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHAZMAT.2021.127456
- Wang, X.W., Li, J.S., Guo, T.K., Zhen, B., Kong, Q.X., Yi, B., Li, Z., Song, N., Jin, M., Xiao, W.J., Zhu,
 X.M., Gu, C.Q., Yin, J., Wei, W., Yao, W., Liu, C., Li, J.F., Ou, G.R., Wang, M.N., Fang, T.Y.,
 Wang, G.J., Qiu, Y.H., Wu, H.H., Chao, F.H., Li, J.W., 2005. Concentration and detection of
 SARS coronavirus in sewage from Xiao Tang Shan Hospital and the 309th Hospital. J. Virol.
 Methods 128, 156. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JVIROMET.2005.03.022
- Wang, Y., Liu, P., Zhang, H., Ibaraki, M., Vantassell, J., Geith, K., Cavallo, M., Kann, R., Saber, L., Kraft, C.S., Lane, M., Shartar, S., Moe, C., 2022. Early warning of a COVID-19 surge on a university campus based on wastewater surveillance for SARS-CoV-2 at residence halls. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153291
- Watson, R.J., Blackwell, B., 2000. Purification and characterization of a common soil component which inhibits the polymerase chain reaction. Can. J. Microbiol. 46, 633–642. https://doi.org/10.1139/w00-043

- Wei, X., Li, L., Zhang, F., 2021. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on socio-economic and sustainability. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 68251–68260. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-021-14986-0/TABLES/6
- World Health Organization, 2021. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard With Vaccination Data. WHO.
- Ye, Y., Ellenberg, R.M., Graham, K.E., Wigginton, K.R., 2016. Survivability, Partitioning, and Recovery of Enveloped Viruses in Untreated Municipal Wastewater. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00876
- Zheng, S., Fan, J., Yu, F., Feng, B., Lou, B., Zou, Q., Xie, G., Lin, S., Wang, R., Yang, X., Chen, W., Wang, Q., Zhang, D., Liu, Y., Gong, R., Ma, Z., Lu, S., Xiao, Y., Gu, Y., Zhang, J., Yao, H., Xu, K., Lu, X., Wei, G., Zhou, J., Fang, Q., Cai, H., Qiu, Y., Sheng, J., Chen, Y., Liang, T., 2020. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 369. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJ.M1443
- Zhou, F., Yu, T., Du, R., Fan, G., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Xiang, J., Wang, Y., Song, B., Gu, X., Guan, L., Wei,
 Y., Li, H., Wu, X., Xu, J., Tu, S., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., Cao, B., 2020. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Lond. Engl. 395, 1054–1062. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Zhu, Y., Oishi, W., Maruo, C., Saito, M., Chen, R., Kitajima, M., Sano, D., 2021. Early warning of COVID-19 via wastewater-based epidemiology: potential and bottlenecks. Sci. Total Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145124

4. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

4.1 CONCLUSION

This work helped to advance the knowledge on passive sampling in relation to SARS-CoV-2, by testing multiple different concentration and extraction techniques as well as various materials to discover the pitfalls and merits of each method, so that their suitability for various programs can be assessed. This thesis was conducted during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, where the traditional method of monitoring viral infections within wastewater was from liquid sampling, namely grab and composite sampling. This is where either a single volume of liquid is collected at various time points and assessed individually (grab sampling) or where these volumes of liquid are collated over a certain time period (composite sampling). Although both methods are affective composite sampling was shown to offer a more complete picture of the viral levels over the whole time period rather than just a spot level insight like with grab sampling. However, these methods can not only be expensive but also require more infrastructure in place than passive sampling. This means that these methods are not available to those in low economic areas, as well as those that are prone to theft or in difficult to reach locations. This is where the main idea behind passive sampling as a solution to other more costly and resource intensive methods of viral detection starts.

At the time of writing little was known about the use and effectiveness of passive samplers for the detection and quantification of SARS-CoV-2. Previous papers had used tampons as a detection method however these methods were not yet compared to other passive sampling

materials that were available. Therefore, this thesis aimed to bridge these knowledge gaps within Chapter two.

This work found that passive sampling can be used for the detection and quantification of SARS-CoV-2 and other human viruses from influent wastewater. The data presented in the chapter two suggest that manual extractions yielded a higher viral recovery compared to an automated system. Furthermore, we found that tampons were the material that recovered the highest quantity of SARS-CoV-2 when compared to cotton swabs and an ion exchange paper material. The method that is the best at recovering SARS-CoV-2 from influent wastewater is noelution in PEG. Passive samplers, specifically tampons, recover more virus at lower viral loads then traditional grab samples.

Following on from this work Chapter 3 was aimed at assessing the passive sampling material – tampons - in a wider context in terms of environmental human infectious viral detection. This was to see how effective passive sampling as a technique was for the detection of other human viruses from environmental samples. Chapter three investigated the use of passive sampling for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses (Influenza A and B (Flu-A & B), SARS-CoV-2, human adenovirus (AdV), norovirus GII (NoV GII), measles virus (MeV), pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV), the faecal marker crAssphage and the process control virus *Pseudomonas* virus phi6) from wastewater. All samples were extracted manually, and tampons were used as the sampler materials, as these were found to recover the highest viral load for SARS-CoV-2 detection as found in Chapter two. For this we tested the four viral recovery methods that yielded the highest viral recoveries from the second chapter. We found that the preferred

viral recovery method from the tampon passive samplers were the no-elution/PEG precipitation method. We also evidenced that non-enveloped viruses had higher percent recoveries from the passive samplers than enveloped viruses. Through this experiment we compared three different brands of tampons and found that there was no significant difference between viral recoveries and specified brands of tampons.

Overall, passive sampling is a great technique that can be used to detect and quantify multiple viruses at near-source monitoring. However more work needs conducting on passive sampling to explore the techniques full capabilities.

4.2 FUTURE WORK

The use of passive sampling has wider applications then just the ones talked about in this thesis. Much more research is required into the use of passive samplers not only for detection of human pathogens within wastewater but also different applications to wider environmental health issues. This thesis brings up multiple questions surrounding the precise mechanisms of passive sampling for the detection of viruses, the specifics of which are about to be discussed.

The second chapter which investigated the best method and material for passive sampling within wastewater. This chapter also touched on the ragging rates of passive samplers when deployed on a longer-term basis (over 24 h). More work needs to be done to reduce the rates of ragging and the difficulties this presents when conducting laboratory work. Such as investigating the best housing devices for different samplers and the best way to 'clean' the samplers of unwanted debris (i.e. sediments, cosmetic items). Further work could also be done exploring the

effectiveness of passive sampling over longer time periods (>24 hrs), this work could also explore the differences between automatic sampling devices and passive sampling further.

The third chapter addresses the fact that viral structure affects passive sampling viral recovery rates, therefore future work needs to address the effects of pH, temperature and disinfectants on viral recovery, as well as to understand the wastewater matrices and how that impacts viral recoveries. There is also the likelihood that different samplers will have greater viral recoveries for different viruses, this needs further exploration within the human pathogen and wastewater field. This could be done by using passive samplers such as tampons for the detection of a wider panel of human enteric viruses that have a wider range of viral structures, including enveloped and unenveloped, more rod like viruses and a variety of size classifications. This would further investigate the different properties of viruses that allow for their recovery from passive sampler materials.

The scope of passive sampling for use in the wider environmental health is far reaching, with the option to explore the possibilities of using this technique not only just within the wastewater matrices (such as exploring effluent sampling) but also within other water matrices like seawater and freshwater. The exploration of human virus levels within effluent wastewater would be of particular interest, especially with more attention being paid to effluent wastewater entering both fresh and seawater recently. This could also lead to the testing of environmental waters for different human and animal pathogens, such as *Vibrio* bacteria within coastal waters or HSV within waterways.

Chapter 4: Conclusion and Future Work